# AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

# THE USE OF ADJUDICATION IN CONSTRUCTION DISPUTES RESOLUTION: STANDARD MECHANISMS AND PRACTICE TRENDS

# by MOHAMMAD HASAN ALI SENAN

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Engineering to the Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering of the Maroun Semaan Faculty of Engineering and Architecture at the American University of Beirut

> Beirut, Lebanon January 2018

AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

# THE USE OF ADJUDICATION IN CONSTRUCTION DISPUTES RESOLUTION: STANDARD MECHANISMS AND PRACTICE TRENDS

by MOHAMMAD HASAN ALI SENAN

Approved by: Dr. Mohamed-Asem Abdul-Malak, Professor Advisor Departmenpof Givil and Environmental Engineering Dr. Hiam Khoury, Associate Professor Member of Committee Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering Issa Dr. Issam Srour, Associate Professor Member of Committee Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering

Date of thesis defense: January 28, 2018

## AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

## THESIS, DISSERTATION, PROJECT RELEASE FORM

Student Name:	Senan	Mohammad Hasar	n Ali
	Last	First	Middle
Master's Thesis	O Master's	s Project C	Doctoral Dissertation

I authorize the American University of Beirut to: (a) reproduce hard or electronic copies of my thesis, dissertation, or project; (b) include such copies in the archives and digital repositories of the University; and (c) make freely available such copies to third parties for research or educational purposes.

Χ I authorize the American University of Beirut, to: (a) reproduce hard or electronic copies of it; (b) include such copies in the archives and digital repositories of the University; and (c) make freely available such copies to third parties for research or educational purposes after:

One ---- year from the date of submission of my thesis, dissertation, or project. Two ---- years from the date of submission of my thesis, dissertation, or project. Three X years from the date of submission of my thesis, dissertation, or project.

Signature

Date February 7, 2019

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Sincere gratitude and appreciation to my advisor, Professor Mohamed-Asem Abdul-Malak for the endless support, help, and encouragement during my graduate studies and related research. His guidance and motivation, and immense knowledge helped me in all the time of research and thesis writing.

In addition to my advisor, I would like to thank my thesis committee, Dr. Issam Srour and Dr. Hiam Khoury, for their insightful and important comments and guidance during the thesis proposal presentation and thesis defense. Many thanks to the members of the Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering and my colleagues.

Finally, yet importantly, I express my exceptional thanks to my family, who supported every step I made during my undergraduate and graduate journey. They will always be the reason behind my accomplishments and I will always be thankful for their encouragement and unconditional love.

# AN ABSTRACT OF THE THESIS OF

## Mohammad Hasan Senan for

<u>Master of Engineering</u> <u>Major</u>: Civil and Environmental Engineering

## Title: <u>The Use of Adjudication in Construction Disputes Resolution: Standard</u> <u>Mechanisms and Practice Trends</u>

The vast number of uncertainties faced in construction projects makes disagreements between the involved parties almost unavoidable. Alternative dispute resolution techniques serve the purpose of ending the disagreement between the parties to avoid the high implications of escalating the case to arbitration or litigation. Adjudication is one of these alternative dispute resolution methods where a neutral third party (the adjudicator or adjudication board) uses the collected evidence and analysis of events in conjunction with the relevant contractual clauses to issue a binding decision. The objectives of this research are twofold. First, it uses relevant clauses in standard contract documents and literature in addition to the understanding of the adjudication mechanism to synthesize the attributes and qualities deemed vital in a decision maker, whether he is an Engineer, Project Manager, or Adjudicator, to issue a binding decision based on the assigned contractual authority. Second, it aims to deduce the additional qualities that distinguish the adjudicator who issues a decision that qualifies to be, as well, final, through looking extensively into the contractual requirements and procedure of the adjudication technique and the trends visible in statistical data published by adjudication centers. The qualities included having contract language proficiency, technical, managerial, and contractual know-how, and team and time management skills.

# CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	V
ABSTRACT	VI
LIST OF ILLUSTRATION	X
LIST OF TABLES	XI

# Chapter

1.	INTR	INTRODUCTION		
	1.1.	Background	1	
	1.2.	Problem Statement	5	
	1.3.	Research Objectives	6	
	1.4.	Methodology	6	
	1.5.	Significance of Research	7	
2.	LITE	RATURE REVIEW	9	
	2.1.	Inevitability of Disputes	9	
	2.2.	Dynamics of Claims	12	
	2.3.	Types of ADR	14	
	2.4.	Advantages of ADR	16	
3.	ADJU	JDICATION IN STANDARD FORMS OF CONTRACTS	19	
	3.1.	Preamble	19	
3.2. Dispute Resolution under the Three Contracts			19	
		3.2.1. Dispute resolution under FIDIC	20	
		3.2.1.1. Claims under Clause 20	21	
		3.2.1.2. Disputes under Clause 21	23	

		3.2.2.	Dispute 1	resolution under NEC	27
			3.2.2.1.	NEC contract	27
			3.2.2.2.	Steps before Adjudication under NEC contracts	28
			3.2.2.3.	Option W1	29
			3.2.2.4.	Option W2	31
		3.2.3.	Dispute 1	resolution under JCT 05 Contract	34
			3.2.3.1	Claim process under JCT 05 contract	34
	3.3.	Compa	rison of A	djudication Timelines	36
4.	ADJU CENT	JDIC. FERS	ATION	IN PRACTICE: UK ADJUDICATION	39
	4.1.	Pream	ole		39
	4.2.	Prepari	ing the Da	ta	40
	4.3.	Referra	als		41
	4.4.	ANBs	Backgrou	nds	43
	4.5.	Backgr	round of A	.djudicators	46
	4.6.	Initiati	on Period.		47
	4.7.	Primar	y Subject o	of the Dispute	48
	4.8.	Involve	ed Parties	in the Dispute	49
	4.9.	Values	of Referre	ed Disputes	50
	4.10.	Proced	ures Adop	ted	51
	4.11.	Expert	s Assigned	as Advisors for Adjudicators	52
	4.12.	Timesc	ale		53
	4.13.	Outcor	ne of the A	Adjudication Process	54
	4.14.	Challer	nged Appo	pintments	55
	4.15.	Filed C	Complaints		56
	4.16.	Aband	oned Adju	dication Processes	57

		4.16.1 Contractual Reasons	58
		4.16.2 Financial Reasons	59
		4.16.3 Procedural and Technical Reasons	59
		4.16.4 Personal Reasons	60
	4.17.	Winners of Adjudicator's Decision	60
5.	INIT	AL AND FINAL DECISION MAKERS	62
	5.1.	Preamble	62
	5.2.	Qualities Needed Along the Dispute Timeline	62
		5.2.1. Phase1	63
		5.2.2. Phase2	67
	5.3.	Appointment and Training of Adjudicators	73
		5.3.1. Parties' role	73
		5.3.2. ANBs' role	74
		5.3.3. Adjudicators' role	75
6.	CON	CLUSIONS	76
	6.1.	Summary of Work	76
	6.2.	Conclusions	77
		6.2.1. Adjudication in Standard forms of Contracts	78
		6.2.2. Adjudication in the UK Construction Industry	79
		6.2.3. Deduced Qualities	80
	6.3.	Limitations of Research	81
	6.4.	Recommendations	82
	6.5.	Future Work	83
7.	REFE	ERENCES	84

# **ILLUSTRATIONS**

Figu	re	Page
1.	Claim Timeline under FIDIC 2017 Contract	25
2.	Dispute Timeline Under FIDIC 2017 Contract	26
3.	Timeline of Adjudication under NEC3 Contract Option W1	32
4.	Timeline of Adjudication under NEC3 Contract Option W2	33
5.	Timeline for Loss and Expense Claim JCT Contract	35
6.	Timeline for Adjustment of Completion Date Claim JCT Contract	36
7.	Adjudication Timeline Under JCT Contract	36
8.	Example of the Collected Data	40
9.	The Created Excel Sheets for the Data	40
8.	Referrals to ANBs Across the Years	42
11.	Distribution of the Charged Hourly Fees by the Adjudicators	43
12.	Source of Adjudicators' Appointment	44
13.	Background of ANBs During the Last 20 Years	45
14.	Background of Nominated Adjudicators between 1998 and 2017	46
15.	Main Categories of the Adjudicators' Backgrounds	47
16.	Primary Subject of Referred Disputes	48
17.	Parties Involved in Disputes	50
18.	Values in Dispute of the Referred Cases	51
19.	Average Distribution of the Procedure Adopted	
	by the Adjudicators Between 1998 and 2018	52
20.	Experts Assigned as Advisors for Adjudicators	53
21.	Time Needed to Conclude Adjudication Process	54

22.	Adjudication Outcomes	55
23.	Challenged Adjudicator Appointment between 2000 and 2015	56
24.	Filed Complaints Against Adjudicators	57
25.	Reasons Behind Abandoning the Adjudication Process	58
26.	Percentage of Won Decisions by Each Party	61
27.	Summary of Qualities Deduced from Each Milestone of Phase 1	66
28.	Summary of Qualities Deduced from Each Milestone of Phase 2	72

# TABLES

Table		Page
1.	Summary of Number of Steps in each Contract	38
2.	Background and Total Number of Nominations of the ANBs between	
	1998 and 2017	44

# DEDICATION

My work is dedicated to the people who taught me that the best interest is earned when investing in knowledge, the people who were there to support me with every step in this journey, my parents.

# CHAPTER I:

## INTRODUCTION

### 1.1 Background

The vast number of uncertainties faced in construction projects makes disagreements between the involved parties almost unavoidable. One main reason behind these uncertainties is having incomplete, vague, or ambiguous contract conditions clauses. Other reasons include facing an imbalanced allocation of risks in the contract, design variations, and unforeseen events (S.-O. Cheung & Suen, 2002). These uncertainties symbolize the main roots of a disagreement which, if not dealt with in its early stages, may evolve into a dispute or lead to contract termination.

The standard forms of contracts such as the International Federation of Consulting Engineers contract (FIDIC), the New Engineering Contract (NEC), and the Joint Contracts Tribunal standard building contract (JCT) introduce various clauses to mitigate risks, regulate the adversarial relationship between the parties, and control the dispute timeline. The use of standard contracts is considered to be a way to ensure fair distribution of risks among project participants and a tool to implement efficient project management (Totterdill, 2001). In these aforementioned standard contract conditions, the claimant should follow a detailed procedure in order to be entitled to a time extension and/or compensation. The first step is to follow the contractual claim notice requirements following the occurrence of the triggering event. This time-barred notice, which is considered as a condition precedent, is essential to preserve the right and eligibility of the claim (Abdul-Malak & Khalife, 2017). Condition precedent is a

common mechanism used in various types of contracts (Al Qady et al., 2013). It is perceived as a required act before having the right to claim fulfilled. Condition precedent in construction contracts is found in contract clauses that set timeframes for some actions to be done before establishing a right or performing other acts (Lim, 2012). In the case of owner's default, as the case when the owner fails to make payments according to the payment schedule, the contractor has to send the owner a notice that he's in breach of contract. This leads to suspension of work if payment isn't made within the stipulated time frames. In some situations, contract provisions lack explicit time frames for notices. Phrases such as "as soon as practicable" or "in reasonable time" are used instead. As parties may have different interpretations for such vague timeframes, conflicts may arise due to the disagreement that may result between the decision maker and the claimant (Harris, 2015). Failure to follow the contractual notice requirements will increase the risk of getting the claim rejected and denied even without looking at its merits (Miletsky, 2001).

Dissatisfaction with the assessment and decision of the initial decision maker (Architect/Engineer, contract administrator, or Project Manager) regarding the claim allows the evolvement of the claim into a dispute. Referring the dispute to formalized dispute resolution strategies such as litigation or arbitration was the norm in the construction industry. However, the industry called for alternative strategies that also contain a neutral third party such as mediation and dispute boards due to the high costs involved, in terms of time and money, in litigation and arbitration (Haugen & Singh, 2015).

Mediation is an alternative dispute resolution method that allows the disputants to build an enforceable agreement with the help of a neutral third party. This third party, referred

to as the mediator, attempts to convince both parties to avoid litigation or arbitration, through emphasizing the advantages of reaching a quick agreement, which they can both agree to, instead of having an imposed decision by an arbitrator or judge. As parties commence the mediation session, they sign to a confidentiality agreement that allows them to discuss interests, options, and fears to generate new solutions and possibly solve all major and minor disputes while preserving work relationships. The mediator, in the mediation session, tries to create an atmosphere of trust between the parties while tackling the core of the dispute in order to create an agreement using an advanced integrative approach (Senan et al, 2018). This agreement, if reached and signed, becomes legally binding and compliance is enforced (Twomey, 2006). Adjudication is another popular alternative dispute resolution technique in which the dispute is referred to dispute boards which can involve either a single neutral third party or a three-member impartial panel. In the case of a panel, each of the owner and contractor assigns a neutral member, and the two jointly choose the third member to act as the board's chairperson. Dispute adjudication board (DAB) and dispute review board (DRB) are two variants of the dispute boards that share similar characteristics and procedures. While dispute boards are usually assigned following the contract signature, these boards can be introduced anytime in the project lifecycle. However, a great advantage of having a dispute board engaged earlier is the minimal effort needed to explain events and contract conditions in the dispute resolution process (Harmon, 2011). Dispute board members conduct site visits and attend meetings in order to facilitate communication between project participants, minimize the occurrence of disagreements, and resolve any dispute in its early stages. This proactive system makes dispute boards also fall into the category of dispute avoidance techniques (Gerber and

Ong, 2010). When a dispute is referred to the dispute board, the board arranges informal hearings to give each party, the claimant and defendant, an opportunity to present his position in order to collect facts and issue a fair but non-binding recommendation in the case of DRB, and a binding decision in the case of DAB (Agdas & Ellis, 2013). While the DRB's non-binding recommendation is used by both parties as a chance to have a sense of what the outcome of arbitration would be, the decision taken by DAB is considered as binding and final unless a party issues a notice of dissatisfaction. This notice of dissatisfaction is usually coupled with an intention to escalate the matter to arbitration or litigation. If no such notice is issued, any of the parties can enforce the decision in court depending solely on the fact of the decision without the need to prove the underlying dispute (Marshall, 2012).

A report published by the Adjudication Reporting Centre of Glasgow Caledonian University in 2012 showed that the valuation of work done has always been one of the main matters behind disputes along with valuation of variations. Other matters include interim payment issues, vagueness of contractual clauses and terms, defective work, and assessment of reasonable extension of time. With all these various categories, the adjudicator (or adjudication board members) should be of various technical backgrounds in order to understand all the merits of the dispute. In addition to the technical background and previous experience, the adjudicator should have the jurisdiction to take decisions and act fairly, impartially, and naturally in accordance with the requirements of natural justice in order to issue a binding and enforceable decision that is legally similar to the First-tier Tribunal decisions (Marshall, 2012).

## **1.2 Problem Statement**

As dispute occurrence in construction projects is almost inevitable, dispute avoidance and mitigation techniques are always visited and studied. Alternative dispute resolution techniques serve the purpose of ending the disagreement between the parties to avoid the high implications of escalating the case to arbitration or litigation. The claim is first referred to the decision maker in the project who issues a binding decision. As one of the parties (or both) may be dissatisfied with this decision, direct negotiations may help the parties end the dispute. Failure to reach an agreement in direct negotiations necessitates introducing a neutral third party who either facilitates the discussion and reduces the gap as a mediator or issues a binding decision as an adjudicator. Adjudication is an alternative dispute resolution method where a neutral third party (the adjudicator or adjudication board) uses the collected evidence and analysis of events in conjunction with the relevant contractual clauses to issue a binding decision. Literature addressed extensively the procedure and attractiveness of the existing alternative dispute resolution methods administered by a neutral third party such as mediation and adjudication. However, it has not fully addressed the needed qualifications of the neutral third party that allow him to issue a fair, binding, and enforceable decision that can also be final in the case of adjudication. In this regard, the question of what qualities, attributes, and background an adjudicator should have has not been fully answered, thereby leaving such an important aspect of this alternative dispute resolution technique barely tackled although it directly affects the soundness and credibility of the adjudicator's decision.

## **1.3 Research Objective**

The objectives of this research are twofold. First, it uses relevant clauses in standard contract documents and literature in addition to the understanding of the adjudication mechanism to synthesize the attributes and qualities deemed vital in a decision maker, whether he is an Engineer, Project Manager, or Adjudicator, to issue a binding decision based on the assigned contractual authority. Second, it aims to deduce the additional qualities that distinguish the adjudicator who issues a decision that qualifies to be, as well, final, through looking extensively into the contractual requirements and procedure of the adjudication technique and the trends visible in statistical data published by adjudication centers.

### 1.4 Methodology

The methodology to be followed in this research is expected to include the following steps:

- Conducting a thorough review of the literature focused on disputes in the construction industry, in general, and the adjudication use in dispute resolution, in particular;
- 2. Examining the relevant contractual provisions and clauses in standard contract documents, such as those by the FIDIC, NEC, and JCT, which regulate the issuance of a binding decision, in order to highlight the stipulated contractual timeframes and related requirements;
- 3. Analyzing statistical data published by adjudication centers regarding cases referred to adjudication, in order to deduce the trends and the way with which project participants view this technique and investigate the effect of having a

valid, sound, and binding adjudicator decision on the chances of ending the dispute before reaching arbitration or litigation;

- 4. Proposing a set of qualities and attributes needed in a decision maker to issue a binding decision and extending it with additional ones needed in an adjudicator to qualify his binding decision to become a final one based on deductions from former steps; and
- 5. Concluding the work with a brief summary of the findings, recommendations, and possible future work.

## **1.5 Significance of Research**

Adjudication is a popular alternative dispute resolution technique that relies on the understanding, judgment, and fairness of a neutral third party who issues a binding decision, which could lead to ending the dispute. If no notice of dissatisfaction is delivered by one of the disputants within the stipulated time bar, this decision becomes final as well. In this context, this research studies the adjudication mechanism and suggests a set of attributes and qualities needed in an adjudicator to qualify his binding decision to become a final one that has the same merits of First-tier Tribunal decisions. Ensuring the presence of such qualities and attributes in an adjudicator shall have the likely effect of enhancing the effectiveness of adjudication and reducing the chances of a party serving a notice of dissatisfaction following the issuance of an adjudicator's decision. For this, this research serves as a guide for disputants in the process of choosing dispute adjudication board members to secure a sound, fair, and impartial decision by these members. Moreover, the research compares the steps and timeframes that regulate the adjudication technique under three standard forms of contracts and

highlights the importance of statistical data in understanding the trends and shifts in using adjudication to resolve construction disputes. The research concludes with some recommendations in order to regulate the process of training and appointing adjudication board members to protect the credibility and integrity of adjudicators and improve the reliability of this technique in the industry.

## CHAPTER II:

## LITERATURE REVIEW

### **2.1 Inevitability of Disputes**

With all the recent updates and additional clauses, dispute avoidance mechanisms, and regulations incorporated in standard construction contract documents, disputes continued to be inevitable. For this, stakeholders are trying new policies that help in dispute prevention. Effective management policies that include strict staffing policies, quality assurance plans, and duties distribution plans that separate design from contract administration (S. O. Cheung & Yiu, 2006) are some of these policies which may decrease the number of disputes but not stop them. Moreover, managers usually attempt to address a claim, which is defined by Levin (1998) as a demand written by one of the project stakeholders according to the signed contract seeking time extension, extra payment, or any remedy or adjustment for a problem faced during the project lifecycle, before it escalates to a dispute.

Managers, engineers, and owners can expect challenges regularly during construction operations. Such challenges may also be encountered during pre and post-construction phases (Yih Chong, Balamuralithara, & Choy Chong, 2011). Technical problems that occur during the construction phase may be complex but can be solved. This type of problems, that arise from incomplete design or design variations, needs different skills than those needed for problems that occur due to ineffective communication. Additionally, the escalation of project size, cost, and design complexity nowadays

increased the challenges on project stakeholders in matching the anticipated necessary skills and means in order to deliver the project successfully (Doloi, 2009).

Causes of claims can be grouped into two main categories: claims caused by owner and owner's personnel, and claims caused by the contractor and his team including subcontractors.

Design errors, ambiguities, and incomplete design information are the main sources of claims caused by the owner. The project Architect or Engineer may fail to act within the stipulated time frame to produce and review shop drawings, approve change orders, and answer requests for clarification of drawings and specifications, which may cause errors or omissions that create schedule conflicts and delays (Ahuja, 1994). Another factor that increases the possibility of having disputes is having incomplete, ambiguous, or inconsistent conditions of contract (Sertyesilisik, 2010). Checking contractual provisions, terms, rights, and responsibilities is usually delegated to contract administrators (Abdul-Malak & Khalife, 2017). For this, contract administrators should be able to grasp every single clause of the contract as failing to appropriately administer the contract due to the absence of essential managerial skills in addition to missing contractual timeframes for replies and decisions lead to disputes (Awwad et al, 2016). Clients may reject contractor's legitimate claims which may push the contractor towards submitting more claims in order to cut his losses (Sai On Cheung & Pang, 2013). Additionally, imbalanced risk allocation, where the client shifts all the risks to the contractor leaving him with a small margin of profit to ensure bid competitiveness, increases the possibility of having disputes during project life cycle (Sai On Cheung, 1997). However, with all risks assumed to be borne by the contractor, all tenders may have extremely high prices that exceed the engineer's estimate. This practice will allow

the bidding to be inaccurate compared to the situation where the owner bears the risk of the unforeseen events leaving (Ndekurgi & Mcdonnell, 1999). Furthermore, payments should be made within the contractual time frames. Due to the severe effects of delayed payments on the contractor, the contractor will directly submit claims in order to fund the subsequent phases of the project. As such, contractors raise claims in order to get compensation for the unexpected events that were unforeseen prior to contract signature (El-adaway & Fawzy, 2012).

On the other hand, owners' claims against the contractors are usually related to materials being defective or different than what was mentioned in the specifications and design drawings. Other claims may be related to damages to owners' properties or installed products, late completion, and safety breaches (Enshassi, Choudhry, & El-Ghandour, 2009). Another cause of claims is not having a standard mechanism for analyzing delays. Delay claims can be analyzed at the end of the project to assess if the delay in project completion was caused by the owner or contractor (Aibinu, 2009). Choosing the project stakeholders is one of the project success factors. Financial stability, work experience, and previous performance are three major standards that employers look after (Doloi, 2009). Other standards may include quality control systems, flexibility, staff profiles, and tender price and quality. This prequalification process of bidders limits the acceptable bidders to those who satisfy the aforementioned standards thus decreasing the possibility of facing claims. Contractors also prequalify their subcontractors in order to make sure that the subcontracted work will be done according to the anticipated quality and within the set limits of cost and duration. Although construction disputes are considered, according to Hellard (1988), a result of conflict of interests, goals, and principles, decision-makers should act fairly while

assessing disputes in order to limit the consequences of a dispute as it could build tension and break the trust between the contractor, employer, and employer's management team (Aibinu, 2009). Project stakeholders, including project owner, designer, contractor, and subcontractors, should be prepared to face construction claims by following a clear claim management plan that is well documented within the project contract conditions.

Due to construction market state, contractors often ignore having a thorough review of the contract before contract signature wishing to land a job at any cost. Additionally, few construction companies have an in-house management department that reviews contracts before signature (Walsh, 2017). From the owner's perspective, owners use standard contract conditions in order to have a complete contract that is error-free. Owners frequently use the same contract for several projects as they incorporate additional clauses in particular conditions. Conversely, some owners use contracts without checking what clauses apply to their particular project which increases the possibility of facing claims later on. For this, contractual issues present a great share of the number of lawsuits brought to courts that faced a substantial increase in the past decades (Tazelaar & Snijders, 2010).

#### 2.2 Dynamics of Claims

Claims are complex in nature. The disagreement between different parties extends from acknowledging the occurrence of the event triggering submitting a notice of claim to choosing when and how to assess its impacts and quantify the reasonable compensation. This notice is considered a gateway that allows proper management work to take place by the contract administrator and project manager, following the occurrence of the

event, and until the issuance of a decision on the matter by the initial decision maker (Mewing, 2014). The notices are of great benefit for all the project participants as they serve as proof of communication and a way to follow up with the events to do analysis and issue decisions (Abdul-Malak & Khalife, 2017). In delay claims, for example, lacking fixed and consistent timing and method of analysis to assess, quantify, and issue decision may increase the complexity of the claim as project activities and phases are interconnected (Kumaraswamy & Yogeswaran, 2003). The used methods of analysis fall into two main categories, prospective and retrospective. The prospective methods use the predicted most likely impact of the issue on the project schedule and budget. Retrospective methods, on the other hand, use the actual impact of the issue on the project schedule and budget. For this, the latter can only be used after the completion of works or after making sure that the event has no more impact on the project.

Quantifying the impacts of an event is also a challenging task. Different assessments of the impacts of an event will create a conflict between the owner and the contractor. The position of the contract administrator and the engineer in assessing and quantifying the impact of an incident may increase the conflicting nature of the claim as it's hard for the claimant to believe that the owner-appointed contract administrator or engineer will act objectively and fairly while issuing a decision especially if it's against the owner's interests. In addition, the engineer is one of the owner's personnel. This makes claiming against a decision taken by the engineer hard as the claimant will send his claim to the engineer himself. Vague and inconsistent design drawings in addition to late payment certificate are examples of the defaults caused by one of the employer's agents (Ndekugri et al, 2007). Most delay and disruption claims cause loss of productivity, termination of subcontracts, loss of profit, increase in overhead and storage fees, and

increase in labor fees (Bramble & Callahan, 2000). Delayed payments, on the other hand, may cause financial difficulties for the contractor that may lead to slowing down the progress of works (Enshassi et al., 2009) and (Best & De Valence, 2002). Furthermore, delays affect the interest of the owner as this may postpone the inauguration of the facility thus leading for significant losses particularly in commercial projects (hotels, commercial centers...) (Marzouk & Moamen, 2009).

### 2.3 Types of ADR

Despite having a thorough understanding of the causations and impacts of the disputes, the latter continues to alter the construction process. Different methods of conflict resolution exist, each tailored to the characteristics of the issue and the desired outcome. Spurin (2003) explains that the aim of every dispute resolution mechanism is to make sure that all project participants are satisfying all contractual responsibilities and obligations and compensate the affected party in case of any breach. This predetermined mechanism will have a direct effect on several outcomes such as the time needed to solve the dispute, the decided value, satisfaction of participants, and other outcomes (Treacy, 1995). Several alternative dispute resolution techniques, such as partnering, early neutral evaluation, negotiation, dispute boards, and mediation were developed as substitutes to solving the case in arbitration or litigation (Gebken & Gibson, 2006). These alternative dispute resolution techniques showed better results in terms of preserving work relationships between disputants and reducing dispute resolution costs (Cheung, 1999).

Partnering is a preventive conflict solving method as it encourages a team approach for the resolution of problems with an atmosphere of trust and cooperation. The tough

construction environment along with the nature and ideological differences of the owner, design professional, and the contractor can make partnering hard to implement. Early neutral evaluation is a second method whereby a neutral party is jointly selected to assess and predict the dispute conclusion if it were to go to court. This timeconsuming technique provides parties with insight on their positions and may lead to a negotiated settlement at a very low cost.

Negotiations are generally dictated by contracts, whereby the owner and contractor's representative must try to resolve these issues in good faith within 28 days (or possibly 45 depending on the contract). Negotiations require the least cost and time investment and do not require the presence of a neutral party.

The Dispute Review Board (DRB) is another voluntary and non-binding approach perceived as one of the most effective and cost-efficient methods for conflict resolution. The DRB is formed of three members at the beginning of the project: the first allocated by the owner, the second allocated by the contractor, and the third agreed upon by both entities. Unlike other approaches, this neutral and experienced board deals with one single issue at a time, hence the quick settlements.

Adjudication is a fast-tracked arbitration under which a dispute is referred to an Adjudicator (or three-member Dispute Adjudication Board) who concludes with a decision within the timeframe stipulated in the contract. The decision that results from this cost-effective method is final and binding unless a notice of dissatisfaction is served by any of the parties (Hibberd & Newman, 1999).

Mediation, on the other hand, is a private, informal, and consensual method where parties voluntarily reach out to a mediator to assist in the negotiations. It takes place when the disagreement escalates into a dispute and relationships are strained (Harmon,

2003). At this point, the parties need a neutral third party to assist them in reaching an agreement. In this approach, the parties are in complete control of the outcome as the mediator assists them to measure the risk and find common grounds in addition to identifying the strengths and weaknesses of their case (Wall et al, 2016). Last, arbitration is similar to litigation in that its decision is final and enforced by law. Also, this decision may not be explained unless regulations require it and the losing end may not appeal it. An added advantage is that arbitrators are usually knowledgeable in the construction industry and as such, the process is quicker than litigation.

#### 2.4 Advantages of ADR

Several research studies emphasized the criticality of the selection criteria of a dispute resolution method. Although these methods may be specified early on before contract award, parties may agree on additional measures and methods in order to ensure resolving the dispute.

Confidentiality is the main criterion since both parties demand to keep the dispute hidden to prevent their reputation from being tarnished. For this, contractors seek techniques that preserve confidentiality especially in the case of performing below quality standards (Haugen & Singh, 2015). No party is allowed to disclose any information to the public in mediation and adjudication. In arbitration, the matter is private unless it's appealed to the High Court (S.-O. Cheung & Suen, 2002). The overall duration taken to solve the dispute is also of high importance as disputes may cause project delay which is directly related to cost as well. This was visible in the results of the questionnaire done by S.-O. Cheung and Suen (2002) where the overall cost and duration ranked at the top of the ADR method selection criteria. While no

specific time bars for these methods are present, negotiation, mediation, and adjudication need days to weeks compared to the years needed by litigation. Cost is also associated with the needed staff and preparation. Arbitration and litigation need a team of lawyers, technical experts, and accountants which increases the expenses during the dispute resolving period. In addition, loss of productivity is expected as workers and employees are engaged in the aggregation of evidence to support the case (Twomey, 2006).

Contractors are interested in preserving a good relationship with developers especially with the decline in the market. Similarly, developers like to work with the contractors again if their previous project was completed according to the desired quality and specifications and within the stipulated time. The use of negotiation and mediation serve the purpose of preserving the relationship between parties and decrease the level of tension. The facilitated negotiations mediation offers within an efficient time and financial frame, all while conserving confidentiality and work relationship, promote this technique as most attractive. Nonetheless, the rate of mediation use in construction disputes remains much lower than other recommended or imposed resolutions. The previous is attributed to a lack of familiarity with the process (Gregory-et al., 2016).

Adjudication may preserve this relationship if both parties agree to the decision of the adjudicator (or adjudication board). In case any party decides to serve a notice of dissatisfaction with the decision, the level of tension increases dramatically especially with the commencement of the arbitration. However, in some cases, the mediator is more concerned about reaching a monetary settlement and not necessarily considers the future relationship (Galloway, 2013). However, in arbitration and litigation, the work

relationships usually fracture due to having a party winning over the other (Haugen & Singh, 2015). Generally, contractors tend to stay away from litigation in order to save their hopes in getting future jobs with the same architect or owner (Stipanowich, 1998). Disputants are also concerned with the degree of control they have over the resolution process. Although both parties agree in mediation on a solution, a party may agree on a solution in order to secure fast payments (even if they were of reduced amounts) and preserve good work relationships with the other party for future work. However, adjudication, arbitration, and litigation are based on what the adjudicator, arbitrator, and judge respectively decide as fair. All decisions and agreements are binding unless a notice of dissatisfaction is served in the case of adjudication decision.

## CHAPTER III:

## ADJUDICATION IN STANDARD FORMS OF CONTRACTS

#### **3.1 Preamble**

The presence of a contract is essential to formalize the relationship between the parties involved in the project lifecycle. The parties, starting with the owner, general contractor and subcontractors, designers, project and construction managers, and any other combinations or variants of these roles according to the adopted project delivery method, should be aware of their rights, roles, and responsibilities. Three forms of standard contracts use adjudication as an alternative dispute resolution technique before escalating them to litigation or arbitration. The first is the International Federation of Consulting Engineers (FIDIC) contract which is commonly used worldwide. The second and third contracts are the New Engineering Contract (NEC) and the JCT contract (produced by the Joint Contracts Tribunal) which are used mainly in the United Kingdom, Hong Kong, and the Asia Pacific Regions. This chapter explains how adjudication technique is presented in these contracts and sheds the light on the clauses that specify time bars and limitations governing its application. The dispute timeline, adjudicator appointment methods, adjudication process guidelines, and decision merits in the three standard contracts are discussed.

#### **3.2** Dispute resolution under the three contracts

The existence of a dispute before allowing one of the ADR techniques to take place is essential (Dancaster, 2008). Although FIDIC, NEC, and JCT contracts allow different

time bars for the diverse notice and referral requirements, these contracts agree that there should be an initial decision on the matter and dissatisfaction of one of the parties before referring it to adjudication. The adjudicator or adjudication board can either be named in the contract upon contract signature, nominated by the parties after the dispute occurrence, or nominated by an adjudication nominating body (Kennedy, 2008).

### **3.2.1** Dispute resolution under FIDIC

Most of the large projects in the middle east region are based on FIDIC contracts. These contracts are also widely used by the World Bank in their international projects (Barakat, 2018). The newest edition of the FIDIC Conditions of Contract for Construction, known as FIDIC Red Book, was published in 2017. The Red Book is divided into 3 main parts: General Conditions, Guidance for the Preparation of Particular Conditions, and other forms for letters and agreements. In addition to the 21 clauses, the General Conditions part of the Red Book also includes general conditions for the dispute avoidance and adjudication procedures in addition to other subclauses. Each clause of the 21 clauses represents a subject that is well addressed, detailed, and described in subclauses. The subjects of these clauses include general provisions, roles of project participants (Employer, Engineer, Contractor, and Subcontractor), engagement of staff and labor, materials, details of commencement, delays, suspensions, and completion, events, payments, and claims and disputes. Of these clauses, clause 20, titled "Employer's and Contractor's Claims", focuses on claims between project participants. The clause describes how the claims arise, for what reasons, the administrative notice and information requirements, time bars, and determination guidelines. When one of the parties is dissatisfied with the issued determination, the claim evolves into a dispute and is referred to be decided by Dispute

Avoidance and Adjudication Board (DAAB) under Clause 21 which is titled "Disputes and Arbitration".

### 3.2.1.1 Claims under Clause 20

The claim may arise if one of the parties is entitled to money (additional payment for the contractor or reduction of the contract price for the employer) or extension of time (extension of contract duration for the contractor and extension of Defect Notification Period for the employer). The clause states clearly that the claiming party should send a notice of claim within 28 days of being aware of the event. Failing to send this notice within the stipulated time bars will discharge the other party from any liability in connection with the event behind the claim. The engineer should send the claiming party a notice (accompanied with reasons) within 14 days from receiving the notice of claim if he considers that the party has failed to give the notice within the 28 days period. Not sending such notice means that the claim is deemed valid. The claimant, if his claim is valid, should submit a fully detailed claim to the engineer. This detailed claim should contain:

- A detailed description of the event behind the claim
- The contractual and legal basis of the claim
- The project records (contemporary records) on which the claiming party relies
- Supporting particulars of claim

The supporting documents required to back the claim include what establishes the eligibility of the claim contractually and legally, and the methods used to quantify the requested compensation (Abdul-Malak & Abdulhai, 2017). The fully detailed claim should be sent within 84 days after the event or after the claiming party became aware

of the event. If the claimant fails to send the contractual and legal basis that back his claim, his notice of claim shall be considered as lapsed and will no longer be valid. The engineer should send a detailed notice to the claimant within 14 days after the expiry of the 84-day period for failing to send a fully detailed claim. The engineer, according to the roles specified in sub-clause 3.7, should consult the parties and allow a period for reaching agreement on the issue. If no agreement is reached within a period of 42 days after receiving a fully detailed claim, or both parties advise the engineer that no agreement will be reached, the engineer is then required, according to the same clause, to determine whether the claimant is entitled to the additional payment, reduction in contract price, extension of time, or extension of the Defect Notification Period within 42 days. In the case when the engineer fails to send a notice of determination within the stipulated time frames, the engineer is then said to be rejecting the claim and the issue can be referred to DAAB without issuing a notice of dissatisfaction. The parties and the engineer have a period of 14 days to correct a typographical, clerical, or arithmetical error. The engineer is required to send a notice of correction to both parties within 7 days of finding the error, stating the corrected agreement or determination or refusal of correction.

If a party is dissatisfied with the determination of the engineer, he should send a notice of dissatisfaction to both, the other party and the engineer, accompanied with the reasons behind this dissatisfaction. This notice should be sent within 28 days of receiving the engineer's determination. However, what is interesting in sub-clause 3.7.5 that focuses on dissatisfaction with engineer's determination, is that the dissatisfaction may be issued on parts of the determination thus leaving the remaining part to become final and binding.

### 3.2.1.1 Disputes under Clause 21

After being dissatisfied with the determination of the engineer, the DAAB is required, pursuant to clause 20, to act and issue a binding decision on the matter. The 2017 edition of the FIDIC Red Book requires the DAAB members (or sole member) to be appointed within 28 days of the date at which the contractor receives the letter of acceptance (unless another time bar is stated in the contract). If the parties do not agree on having a sole DAAB member, and it's not stated in the contract, the DAAB shall comprise 3 members. Each party chooses a member and the chosen members agree on the third one who acts as a chairperson of the board. The contract allows the parties, upon agreement, to appoint a qualified member instead of one of the members for any reason including member resignation. Upon failing to appoint board member(s), or a member replacing a resigned board member, the appointing entity named in the contract, and in consultation with the parties, appoints the member(s). The term of the board, according to the sub-clause 20.1, expires either by the project discharge or 28 days after issuing a decision on the last dispute between the parties, whichever is later. The parties may ask the DAAB to be present at all discussions, site visits, and informal meetings in order to help the parties settle any issue or disagreement before it evolves to a dispute. This dispute avoidance mechanism can be initiated at any time other than the time at which the engineer is working according to sub-clause 3.7 to issue a determination.

Referring the case to DAAB should be made within 42 days after issuing the notice of dissatisfaction. Failing to do so means that the notice has lapsed and is no longer valid. The parties are required to make all the related reports, documents, and sites accessible to the DAAB members. DAAB will issue a decision within 84 days following the case

referral. The decision shall be given in writing to the parties and the engineer with all the reasoning and legal and contractual basis. Failing to issue a decision within this period gives the right to the parties to issue a notice of dissatisfaction, which can also be issued if any party is dissatisfied with the DAAB decision, within 28 days from the expiry of the decision issuance period. Similar to the determination of the engineer, the party may be dissatisfied with part of the decision which makes the remaining part binding and final after the 28-day period elapses. The notice should state clearly the reasons behind this dissatisfaction and with which part.

After issuing the notice of dissatisfaction, the parties are allowed a period of 28 days for amicable settlement. However, and even if no attempt for amicable settlement has been made, arbitration can be commenced on or after the 28<sup>th</sup> day. A party may also refer the failure to abide by the DAAB's binding decision to arbitration even if the decision is not final yet. The whole procedure is described in the following dispute timeline (Figures 1 and 2).


Figure 1 Claim Timeline under FIDIC 2017 Contract



Figure 2 Dispute Timeline under FIDIC 2017 Contract

# 3.2.2 Dispute resolution under NEC

The first NEC contract was introduced in 1993. Contrary to the FIDIC, the NEC drafters preferred simplicity, clarity, and conciseness as complex and lengthy contracts were thought of as a source of conflict (Thompson et al. 2000). The roles and responsibilities of the parties were set with the least possible number of words per sentence (ICE 1991) as the main issue with the traditional contract was the uncertainties that arise from the amendments and long complex language (Love et al. 2010). The NEC contract drafters aimed to produce a clear and flexible contract that motivates the participants to implement effective project management (Murphy et al 2014).

#### 3.2.2.1 NEC contract

As drafters focused on contract flexibility, they set nine core clauses and offered the users several main, secondary, and dispute resolution options from which they can choose what suits them. The nine core clauses assign the responsibilities and requirements of each party, specify the testing and quality control procedures, define payment and compensation policies and programs, and manage the termination process. The participants choose other optional clauses that are also essential to build the contract. These optional clauses are classified to main option clauses and secondary option clauses. The main option clauses are clauses designed for different types of contracts such as priced contracts with activity schedules or bill of quantities, target contracts with activity schedules or bill of quantities, cost reimbursable contracts, and management contracts. Other secondary clauses deal with performance and delay damages, price changes, law changes, bonuses, bonds, liability, and additional conditions of the contract. NEC also gives the project participants two options for dispute resolution through adjudication (Option W1 and Option W2). Option W1 can be

used on any project except for the projects that fall under the provisions of the UK's Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration act 1996 for which the Option W2 is provided.

#### 3.2.2.2 Steps before Adjudication under NEC contracts

Even if the project participants were aware of all the contractual obligations, requirements, and risk allocation, an issue can create a conflict between the parties. If this conflict is not properly managed, it can escalate to a dispute that has a notable impact on project progress and schedule. The NEC contract encourages effective project management by allowing the parties to jointly resolve any issues that occur on site before these issues escalate into claims and before relationships between the parties deteriorate. The clear way with which the NEC contract spells out the rights, obligations, and duties of every participant pushes them to work effectively and minimizes conflict occurrence.

The existence of a whole core clause that identifies and allocate different project risks among the participants (8<sup>th</sup> core clause) allows the parties to prepare suitable procedures and approaches to mitigate the impacts of such potential risks. However, if an issue arises from one of these risks, the NEC contract has its own early notices and warning system (EWS), that guides the parties on how to deal with the issue in order to minimize the consequences and decrease the potential of conflict escalation to a dispute. This escalation of conflict into a dispute can increase the total price of the project and cause a delay in the project schedule due to the work disruptions that result in a decline in workers' performance (NEC 2005). For this, the EWS will urge the parties to hold frequent collaborative onsite meetings in order to reduce the risk and manage the disputes effectively (Gould, 2006). Failing to reach an agreement on ending the disputes

through collaborative discussions, the NEC contract proposes another way to compensate for the losses that occur. The project manager or supervisor can issue a fair and rational decision on the matter in order to end the issue and limit its implications. As any party may be dissatisfied with the decision issued by the project manager or supervisor, the issue can be then referred to an adjudicator or adjudication board if all notice requirements and referral prerequisites. Resolving disputes through adjudication is regulated in the NEC contract through two options: Option W1 and Option W2. The adjudicator in both options revises any action or inaction by the supervisor or project management in relation to the issue and instructs the parties to submit additional data deemed important to decide the matter. In addition, all disputants must be copied in any communication done between a party and the adjudicator. The time bars and specific procedure of each option are summarized below.

# 3.2.2.3 Option W1

In Option W1, the claimant is obliged to send two main notices in order to have the right to refer the matter to adjudication following a denied request of extension of time or compensation after the occurrence of an event, as these notices are considered as condition precedent. The first notice is the notice of a dispute, which is sent by the claimant following an action (decision) or inaction by the project manager or supervisor for a quotation or compensation for an event. This notice should be sent within 4 weeks from the date the claimant becomes aware of the project manager's (or supervisor's) action or inaction. The contract leaves the parties two weeks in order to settle the dispute amicably. After these two weeks, another 2-week period is given to the claimant to issue a notice of case referral to adjudication.

If the adjudicator isn't named in the contract, and the parties seek an appointment from an adjudication nominating body (ANB) rather than choosing themselves, the ANB should appoint the adjudicator within 4 days from the request. The parties should agree on a new adjudicator if the appointed adjudicator resigns. The parties may also ask the ANB to assign another adjudicator which is done within 4 days. The replacement adjudicator has the same power of the resigned adjudicator in issuing decisions on undecided matters. The parties have a period of 4 weeks to send case particulars, data, and copies of related documents to the appointed adjudicator.

The adjudicator then issues a binding decision within a period of 4 weeks. The adjudicator can correct any clerical mistake or remove any ambiguity within two weeks from issuing the decision. If any party is dissatisfied with the adjudicator's decision, this party can submit a notice of referral of the dispute to a tribunal to the other party and the adjudicator within 4 weeks of decision issuance. After this 4-week period elapses without receiving notice of dissatisfaction, the decision becomes final. These time bars can be extended with the consent of the parties and the adjudicator. The parties can not refer the dispute to tribunal unless an adjudicator issues a decision on the matter or the stipulated time to issue a decision elapses without receiving a decision from the adjudicator. The tribunal has the power to settle the dispute and reconsider any decision issued by the adjudicator. However, a party cannot call the adjudicator as a witness on the dispute.

The whole process of resolving the dispute through Option W1 can be summarized in the timeline shown in Figure 3.

#### 3.2.2.4 Option W2

While having most of the approaches and procedures of Option W1 repeated in Option W2, the contract, in this option, states that the parties can refer the dispute to the adjudicator at any time to issue a decision on the matter. The time bars in Option W2 are stated in days that exclude national holidays.

After issuing the notice of adjudication, the party who issued the notice should refer the case to adjudication within 7 days from the notice and include all the information deemed important to issue a decision. Any further information can be sent within a period of 14 days following the case referral. The adjudicator, after the case referral, has a period of 28 days during which he should decide the matter. The 2011 amendments to the NEC contract state that in case the decision of the adjudicator is to revise the amount due, the payment of the revised amount has to be made within 7 days of the adjudicator's decision or by the final date of payments (whichever comes later). The period within which the adjudicator can correct any clerical mistake was reduced from 14 days to 5 days from the date of decision issuance in the 2011 amendments. The adjudicator's decision is binding and becomes final if no party notifies the other party that they intend to refer the case to the tribunal within 28 days of the decision. The main requirements and procedures of Option W2 are summarized in the following timeline (Figure 4).



Figure 3 Timeline of Adjudication under NEC3 Contract Option W1

声 Issua	ance of Notice of Adjudication		
Perio	d for Case Referral to Adjudication		
	7 days		
	Case Referral		
	Sending Additional Info 14 days		
	Period for Adjudicator to issue a Binding	Decision 28 days	
		Adjudicator Issues Decision	Binding Decision becomes
Perio	d for Adjudicator to Correct Decision Errors	5 days	Final and Binding
		Period for Dissatisfied Party to Refer Case to Tribunal	28 days

Figure 4 Timeline of Adjudication under NEC3 Contract Option W2

#### 3.2.3 Dispute resolution under JCT 05 Contract

The Joint Contracts Tribunal (JCT), and since its establishment in 1931, has published standard forms of contracts, guides for project participants, and other standard documents relevant to the construction industry (Taylor, 2008). The contract is drafted in sections in order to enhance its usability and make it more user-friendly. The JCT contracts' sections were standardized to contain sections that spell definitions, work guidelines and procedures, payment rules, measurement and evaluation techniques, termination process, and dispute settlement methods.

#### 3.2.3.1 Claim process under JCT 05 contract

Clause 13 of the JCT spells out the procedures and guidelines for correspondences between the architect and the contractor. In sub-clause 13.2, the contract requires the contractor to notify the initial decision maker (architect or contract administrator) of any loss and expense as soon as it is detected. Having no clear timeframe for this notice allows the parties to debate if the notice was sent at the right time or late with all the difficulty to assess its implication on the schedule and budget at its occurrence. This would result in having the decision maker overwhelmed with notices sent by the contractor to save his right. The contractor should supply enough information and evidence that allow the architect to form an opinion on the case. However, this is done upon being requested to do so by the decision maker following submitting the notice. After forming an opinion, the decision maker has to notify the contractor of any granted extension of time or additional money. The matters that give rise to entitlement range from late possession of site, instructions and variations, discrepancies in contract documents and design drawings, omissions, and other related matters. The claim evolves into a dispute after not being admitted. After that, the claimant can refer the

case to adjudication and the adjudicator should be appointed within 7 days from the notice of referral. The parties may agree on nominating an adjudicator. However, in case they fail to do so, the JCT 05 contract specifies several Adjudication Nomination Bodies for adjudicator nomination such as the Royal Institute of British Architects (RIBA), the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS), the Construction Confederation, the National Specialist Contractors Council, and the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators (CIArb) that may nominate the adjudicator for the disputants. The nominated adjudicator issues his decision within 28 days of the referral or any period the parties agreed on in the contract. If the parties agree, the adjudicator can extend this period by a period of 14 days. The decision of the adjudicator is binding until the matter is referred to an arbitrator (Figures 5, 6, and 7).



Figure 5 Timeline for Loss and Expense Claim JCT Contract



Figure 6 Timeline for Adjustment of Completion Date Claim JCT Contract



Figure 7 Adjudication Timeline under JCT Contract

# 3.3 Comparison of Adjudication Timelines

In the three contracts, the adjudication process should be preceded with different notices and a notice of dissatisfaction with the decision or determination from an initial decision maker. These notices and decision are considered condition precedent to the commencement of adjudication as failing to issue these notices will result in losing the right to take the case for adjudication. In addition, courts normally deny claims without looking at its merits due to the claimant's failure to comply with the stipulated notice time bars (Miletsky, 2001). In FIDIC, referring the case to Adjudication is a four-step process that requires the claimant to send a notice of claim and wait for the engineer's determination. The claimant has then to send a notice of dissatisfaction with the engineer's determination to be able at last to refer the case to DAAB. On the other hand, referring the case to adjudication in NEC contract is a five-step process in both Options, W1 and W2. The claimant has to send a notification of the compensation event followed by an assessment or quotation. After receiving the reply of the project manager and being dissatisfied with it, and under Option W1, the claimant sends a notice of dispute to the owner and project manager followed by referring the case accompanied with supporting documents to the adjudicator. In Option W2, the claimant has to send a notification of adjudication, wait for the reply and approval of the adjudicator, and refer the dispute to the adjudicator accompanied with supporting documents. Similarly, in the JCT standard contract, the claimant has to follow a five-step procedure to refer the case to adjudication. The claimant has first to send a notice of claim to the contract administrator or architect (the initial decision maker) followed by case particulars in the adjustment of completion date claims and initial assessment in the loss and expense claims. The claimant, and after being dissatisfied with the decision of the initial decision maker regarding the extension or ascertained amount, issues a notice of adjudication followed with a request to the adjudicator to act. After the adjudicator's acceptance to act, the claimant then should send a referral notice accompanied with case particulars. All the referrals, notices and requests have to be sent within the timeframes stipulated in the used contract. The adjudicator's decision, under the three contracts, is considered binding and enforceable by law. It is noticeable that the duration given to the adjudicator to issue the decision varies between the three contracts. The adjudicator issues the decision within 84 days of the referral of the case to adjudication under

FIDIC contracts while he's given 28 days only to do the same job under NEC and JCT contracts. The table below (Table 1) summarizes the major milestones and notices required in these standard forms of contracts prior to the adjudication technique. The adjudication rules, appointment of adjudicators, decision type (a binding decision that becomes final and binding), and effect of party's dissatisfaction with the adjudicator's decision are similar to those presented by the International Chamber of Commerce (ICC). However, ICC calls for a board of adjudicators to be formed strictly at the start of the project (after contract signature) if the parties don't agree on a sole adjudicator.

Contract	Number of Steps	Major Milestones and Decisions				
FIDIC	4	Notice of Claim	Decision from Initial Decision Maker	Dissatisfaction with Engineer's Determination	Referral of Case to Adjudication	
NEC	5	Notice of Compensatio n Event	Action (or No Action) from Initial Decision Maker	Notice of Dispute	Notice of Referral to Adjudication	Referral to Adjudication
JCT	5	Notice of Claim	Initial Assessment	Decision from Initial Decision Maker	Notice of Adjudication	Request for Adjudicator to Act

Table 1 Summary of Number of Steps in each Contract

# CHAPTER IV:

# ADJUDICATION IN PRACTICE: UK ADJUDICATION CENTERS

# **4.1 Preamble**

Arbitration was the preferred dispute resolution technique in the Construction industry of the United Kingdom until adjudication was introduced in the Housing Grants Construction and Regeneration Act in 1996 (Dancaster, 2008). Following adjudication's introduction in the act and in common standard construction contracts in this region such as JCT and NEC, a United-Kingdom-wide Adjudication Reporting Centre (ARC) at the Glasgow Caledonian University was established in 1999 to publish annual reports on data collected from adjudication nominating bodies and a sample of practicing adjudicators. Since 2012, the Adjudication Society supported publishing the subsequent reports including the latest report covering the 2017 year published in 2018. These reports allowed for meaningful comparisons between the changes that occurred in adjudication procedures, results, and timeframes during the last 20 years. Adjudication nominating bodies and practicing adjudicators were asked to fill detailed questionnaires that cover all the aspects of this alternative dispute resolution method. The number of responding adjudication nominating bodies (ANBs) who provide adjudication services across the United Kingdom and Scotland increased from 15 in 1999 to 22 in 2018.

# 4.2 Preparing the Data

The first step was to form a complete set of data out of the annual reports published by the Adjudication Reporting Centre of the Glasgow Caledonian University and the Adjudication Society through connecting the numbers of similar headings of each year and filling them in one table (Figure 8). For this, an excel file was created with a sheet representing each of the studied aspects which yielded to 16 excel sheets (Figure 9).

					Years					
	2000	2001	2002	2004	2005	2007	2008	2011	2012	Av
<£75	10.40%	11.50%	8.00%	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%	3.30%
£75 - £100	57.30%	53.10%	40.00%	35.70%	14.30%	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%	22.30%
£101 - £125	22.90%	20.80%	31.00%	17.90%	28.60%	14.30%	25.00%	12.80%	0.00%	19.30%
£126 - £150	0.00%	4.20%	8.00%	35.70%	21.40%	28.60%	25.00%	15.40%	5.60%	16.00%
£151 - £175	7.30%	4.20%	4.00%	3.60%	17.90%	10.70%	28.60%	28.20%	22.20%	14.10%
£176 - £200	0.00%	4.20%	6.00%	0.00%	0.00%	3.60%	7.10%	30.80%	38.90%	10.10%
>£200	4.20%	2.10%	3.00%	7.10%	3.60%	3.60%	3.60%	12.80%	33.30%	8.10%

Figure 8 Example of the Collected Data



Figure 9 The Created Excel Sheets for the Data

Such work needed accuracy and preciseness in collecting, filling, and correcting the data due to the huge number of referred cases (around 28000 cases), the numerous headings the data consists of, the different ways with which the data was represented (percentages or whole numbers), and the different titles used for the same subject in different reports. As each report was considered as a summary of the year that shows the state of each aspect of the adjudication technique in numbers in addition to the previous year or two, the tables had to be checked as a whole after collecting the data of all the years in order to detect any additional outliers or errors.

After forming a correct and accurate set of data, various types of charts were used to represent each of the following aspects of the adjudication technique: Referrals, Backgrounds of Adjudication Nominating Bodies and Adjudicators, Initiation Periods, Primary Subject of the Dispute, Involved Parties in the dispute, Values of the Referred Disputes, Procedures Adopted, Assigned Experts, Timescales, Outcome of the Adjudication Technique, Challenged Appointments and Filed Complaints, Reasons for Abandoned Processes, and Winners of Adjudicator's Decision.

# 4.3 Referrals

As the shortlisted ANBs in standard contracts are considered trustable entities with enough technical knowledge, disputants solicit the help of ANBs to nominate an adjudicator whose technical expertise and experience coincide with the subject of the dispute. The number of referred cases to the ANBs to nominate fluctuated following implementation of the HGCR Act in 1998. However, the number of referrals remained in the last 3 years around the 20-year average (1474 referrals) (Figure 10). It is generally understood that during recessions, disputes increase as parties involved strive to secure payments and try to get as much profit as possible in order to limit the losses

and pay overhead expenses while waiting for a new project. Inversely, the number of referred cases decrease during a construction boom.



Figure 10 Referrals to ANBs across the Years

However, it's noticeable that the number of referrals decreased with the dramatic increase in the adjudicator's hourly fees (Figure 11). In almost 89% of the referred cases, the adjudicators in the year 2000 charged the disputants between £75 and £125 per hour. In the April 2013 report covering the 2012 year, no adjudicator charged an hourly fee below £125. In one-third of the cases referred during the year 2012, the adjudicators charged the disputants an hourly fee greater than £200. In the first few years of implementing adjudication, ANBs and nominated adjudicators tended to ask for low fees in order to attract disputants to use this new alternative dispute resolution technique. Also, the change or British Pound purchasing power during the 20-year

period cannot be neglected as the normal hourly fees change accordingly and so do the materials' prices.



Figure 11 Distribution of the Charged Hourly Fees by the Adjudicators

# 4.4 ANBs Backgrounds

If adjudicators were neither named in contract documents nor agreed on between the parties, disputants ask ANBs to nominate an adjudicator or adjudication board members upon failing to reach an agreement on a matter. ANBs are usually named in contracts and classified according to the type of dispute. According to the collected data, ANBs are the source of appointment of adjudicators in more than 80% of the cases followed by the agreement of parties on the adjudicators then having them named in the contract (Figure 12). This means that most of the nominated adjudicators are contacted only when the dispute is referred to adjudication (ad-hoc) rather than being on board from the contract signature to be aware of all incidents, prevent disagreements from escalating to disputes, and give recommendations.

These ANBs were of various backgrounds that include Architecture, Dispute Resolution (Adjudication, Arbitration, and Law), Engineering (Civil, Chemical, Electrical, Mechanical, Structural, and Surveying), and Management Consultants (Table 2).



Figure 12 Source of Adjudicators' Appointment

Adjudication Nominating Body	Background	Total Appointments (1999-2017)
Academy of Construction Adjudicators	Technical	1604
<b>Chartered Institute of Arbitrators</b>	Legal	2401
Confederation of Construction Specialists	Technical	412
<b>Construction Industry Council</b>	Technical	1949
Institution of Chemical Engineers	Technical	224
Institution of Civil Engineers	Technical	1339
Royal Institute of British Architects	Technical	1259
Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors	Technical	2056
3A's (Polycon AIMS Ltd)	Technical	195
Institution of Mechanical Engineers	Technical	18
Chartered Institute of Building	Technical	792
Construction Confederation	Technical	436

able 2 Background and Total Numb	er of Nominations of	f the ANBs between A	1998 and 2017
----------------------------------	----------------------	----------------------	---------------

Scottish Building Employers' Federation	Technical	188
The Royal Incorporation of Architects in Scotland	Technical	252
Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors in Scotland	Technical	517
<b>Centre for Dispute Resolution</b>	Legal	634
Institution of Electrical Engineers	Technical	20
Technology and Construction Solicitors Association	Legal	1979
Chartered Institute of Arbiters (Scottish Branch)	Legal	294
The Law Society of Scotland	Legal	234
Technology and Construction Bar Association	Technical	886
Adjudication.co.uk	Technical	129
TOTALS		17818

The background distribution of ANBs according to the number of nominations during the last 20 years show that the disputants contact ANBs of three different backgrounds: Quantity Surveying and Management, Law, and Engineering (Figure 13). The nature and merits of the referred dispute, in addition to the title of the disputants, control the background of the solicited nominating body.



Figure 13 Background of ANBs during the Last 20 Years

# 4.5 Background of Adjudicators

As disputants seek the help of a specific ANB according to the dispute's nature, ANBs study the dispute in order to select the most suitable adjudicator(s) profile. The nominated adjudicators were of different backgrounds including Quantity and Building Surveyors, Architects, Construction and Project Managers, Lawyers, Construction Consultants, and Engineers (Figure 14).



Figure 14 Background of Nominated Adjudicators between 1998 and 2017

The adjudicators' backgrounds can be further categorized into three main categories: Engineers and Architects, Lawyers, and Surveyors (Figure 15). Categorizing the backgrounds into these three fields shows that the adjudicators were, on average in the last 20 years, distributed almost equally over these three main categories.



Figure 15 Main Categories of the Adjudicators' Backgrounds

# 4.6 Initiation Period

In almost 81% of the cases referred to adjudication, the referral was made after practical completion. The claimant may collect several disputes and refer them in a single file to the adjudication body after fulfilling all the contractual notice obligations. This may happen when the claimant expects the respondent to compensate during subsequent parts of the project and allows for alternative dispute resolution techniques to take place in order to reach a settlement without ruining work relationships. Such settlement may save the disputants money and time they may spend in solving the dispute through litigation or arbitration. The amicable settlement may happen anytime which may lead the disputants to abandon the adjudication process if commenced. Also, the continuous effect of the event that triggered the claim may push the claimant to fulfill the contractual notice requirement and wait until the effects can be quantified. Moreover, different contracts with different time bars that regulate dispute resolution were used in these cases which also explains the high percentage of cases referred after practical completion. For example, JCT contracts leave the claimant the option to refer the dispute to adjudication at any time. Disputants may also package as many disputes into

one file by the end of works in order to pay for one referral to adjudication process rather than paying for several referrals during the construction period.

# 4.7 Primary Subject of the Dispute

As the ANBs nominate an adjudicator (or adjudication board) according to the referred dispute, the nominated adjudicator(s) should have adequate knowledge in the dispute subject field. The primary subjects of the dispute include payment issues (final account payment, interim payments, withholdings, value of work, and non-payment), technical issues (variations and defective work), contractual issues (extension of time, provisions, repudiation and termination, and liquidated damages), and other subjects (Figure 16).



Figure 16 Primary Subject of Referred Disputes

A dispute may contain several interconnecting subjects. For example, assessing defective work is a technical issue while calculating the reasonable extension of time

due to the rework needed needs contractual, technical, and financial knowledge. Thus, understanding the dispute is key in nominating an adjudicator who's capable of issuing a fair decision with minimum possibility of either party challenging it.

# **4.8 Involved Parties in the Dispute**

Different contractual relationships are found in every project. The type of contract and project organization chart allow for different combinations of direct and indirect relationships between participants. The adjudicator should be able to notice the existence of direct contractual relationships and obligations between the parties and indirect relationships and obligations as such information govern the way with which the parties communicate and thus the claims and disputes that arise. The adjudicator can build a better understanding of the dispute with such information as different project participants have different goals, working techniques and capabilities, and financial capabilities. As expected, the main sources of disputes in average, during the last 20 years, are claims raised by the subcontractor (sub) on the main contractor (MC) (48.70%) and claims raised by the contractor on the client (31.83%) (Figure 17). This is expected as most of the raised disputes revolve around payment and evaluation of work which is the main procedure that is regulated in the contract between the client and contractor, and the main contractor with the sub-contractors. The high difference between the number of disputes caused by a claim raised by higher tier on lower tier (6.3%) compared to those raised by lower tier on higher tier (93.7%) is normal since the weaker side (lower tier) aims to get the benefits available with the strong one (higher tier). However, the number of disputes caused by sub-subcontractors on subcontractors is not as big as other similar cases. This can be explained by the present low contract

prices between sub-subcontractors and subcontractors, lack sophistication in subsubcontractors' organizational structure, and their need to grow and survive rather than to claim and have disagreements.



Figure 17 Parties Involved in Disputes

#### **4.9 Values of Referred Disputes**

Half of the cases referred to adjudication represent claims with small sums. Around 41% of the referrals were cases with dispute value being less than £50k. The main reason is that the contract price between the claimant and respondent is small as in the cases where a subcontractor is referring a case with the main contractor to adjudication, which characterizes half of the referred cases (Figure 18). Additionally, the referred cases to adjudicators in a project may be categorized by specialty which forms packages of disputes of smaller sums.



Figure 18 Values in Dispute of the Referred Cases

#### **4.10 Procedures Adopted**

As the disputants are usually required by contract to send all the information and records related to the issue within a short period following the referral, the adjudicator may need additional information to understand the dispute and assist the decision to be taken. Such data cannot be reached without using one or a combination of the procedures used generally in formalized dispute resolution techniques. In average, adjudicators tend to use the provided documents solely as the source of information, (61%). Adjudicators can ask for 2-party meeting to debate contradicting information, explanations, or points of view. 1-party meeting and full hearing or conference calls are also used to gather more information or get explanations. Site visits may be also essential in order to assess what's present on site in relation to the dispute merits. Legal debates between the legal representatives of the disputants may also be beneficial as the adjudicator can then understand the way with which each party reads the related

contractual clauses (Figure 19). As most of the disputes are referred to adjudication after the completion of works, site visits are rare.



Figure 19 Average Distribution of the Procedure Adopted by the Adjudicators between 1998 and 2018

# 4.11 Experts Assigned as Advisors for Adjudicators

In some cases, the dispute may be composed of interdisciplinary subjects that aren't all within the area of expertise of the adjudicator or adjudication board members. Thus, the assignment of an expert to aid the adjudication body in assessing some aspects of the dispute is deemed vital so that they sustain the ability to issue a valid unchallengeable decision. Although the available data of the years 2000 till 2004 showed that the number of nominated lawyers to act as adjudicators exceed 40% of all the nominated adjudicators, most of the appointed experts in each year were lawyers in addition to few engineers, surveyors, and other experts of various technical fields (Figure 20).



Figure 20 Experts Assigned as Advisors for Adjudicators

# 4.12 Timescale

Although standard contracts stipulate the duration of the adjudication process, amended standard contracts and other contracts may allow more flexibility. Figure 21 shows that the adjudication process in more than half of the referred cases was concluded within 28 days (55%), which is the duration of adjudication in the standard contracts used in the UK such as JCT and NEC. While it took between 28 to 42 days in around one-third of them (33%) and more than 42 days in 12% of the referred cases, this may be due to contract addenda or requests from adjudicators for extra-duration to render a decision.



Figure 21 Time Needed to Conclude Adjudication Process

It's visible that the percentage of adjudications taking more than 42 days has increased significantly since 1998. This may be due to the increased faith of parties in the adjudication process and adjudicator(s) abilities to render a fair decision as the contractually stipulated period may be increased with the consent of the involved parties. The disputants may be open to increase this duration to avoid the implications of abandoning the process and escalating the matter to arbitration or litigation. The dispute complexity, size, and value may influence the time needed by the adjudicator(s) to render the decision.

#### 4.13 The Outcome of the Adjudication Process

In most of the cases, the disputants reach a level of tension at which no amicable settlement is possible. This explains the high percentages of decisions issued by adjudicators (a 66% 20-year average). Some parties also tend to wait for the result of adjudication to know if there's any chance to negotiate a better deal with fewer losses that may include other ongoing claims. Other parties try to settle the dispute amicably while continuing the adjudication process to try reaching a deal (a 19% 20-year average of the referred cases) while fulfilling the contract requirements. A low percentage of 4% of the 20-year data averages shows that the dissatisfaction with the adjudicator's procedure, time used, and professionalism is minimal. In all cases, the data shows that the disputants have faith with this process and with the adjudicator's ability to issue a fair decision (Figure 22).



Figure 22 Adjudication Outcomes

# **4.14 Challenged Appointments**

Parties may challenge the referral of a claim to an adjudicator by another party mainly due to not acknowledging the existence dispute, or what's called "No Dispute Crystallized". This may also happen if a party doesn't agree with an appointed adjudicator. The available data shows that challenging an appointment is considered normal in the dispute resolution sector (30% in average - Figure 23).



Figure 23 Challenged Adjudicator Appointment between 2000 and 2015

The respondent may use this technique to buy time even if he knows that the other party has the right to claim and refer the case to adjudication. The reason behind this is to buy his team of lawyers, accountants, and technical advisors time to assess the claim and get an idea of his chances to win the case and the possibility to offer the claimant a deal with fewer losses.

#### **4.15 Filed Complaints**

The number of complaints made to ANBs against adjudicators had a sharp increase between 2010 and 2011 to represent 2.5% of the referred cases. However, the complaints upheld decreased from 0.21 % in 2004 to 0% in 2010 and 2011 (Figure 24). This small percentage of issued complaints throughout the years shows that either the disputants don't know the adjudication process and want to complain against or they fully trust the way with which the adjudicators issue decisions. A negligible percentage of these complaints were upheld by the ANBs which means that even with the small percentage of complaints, these complaints didn't satisfy complaints rules or weren't backed with enough evidence thus they were dismissed.



Figure 24 Filed Complaints against Adjudicators

# 4.16 Abandoned Adjudication Processes

After the claimant raises the dispute to the adjudicator, the process may be abandoned anytime by the parties as they may reach a settlement while the adjudicator is assessing the matter. The reason behind trying to reach a settlement is the ability to write an agreement the way they want and not having it imposed by a third party. The contractual obligations and timeframes may be the reason behind starting adjudication so that no party loses its right to defend itself and commence arbitration. Other reasons mentioned in the published data that stand behind adjudication not proceeding can be classified into four main categories: Contractual, Financial, Procedural and Technical, and Personal (Figure 25).



Figure 25 Reasons behind Abandoning the Adjudication Process

# 4.16.1 Contractual Reasons

The contractual reasons represent the main reasons behind abandoning the adjudication process (47.89% of the cases). Of these reasons, the adjudicator cannot issue a decision on the matter if the parties are working without a contract that indicates an agreement between the parties. A party can object referring the case to the adjudication as no contractual reference specifies that the adjudicator has the authority to decide. Also, the absence of a written contract between the two parties leaves no consistent or fixed clauses for the adjudicator to refer to as any party can claim that they agreed on different terms. The adjudicator may lack the jurisdiction or authority to issue a decision due to the absence or ambiguity of relevant clauses that coordinate the adjudication process. All the timeframes and notice requirements, decision type (binding/ final), the resort for the dissatisfied party, and other matters may be sources of disagreement between the parties rather than being a way for solving the issue.

deal with claims between the parties will result in rejecting the referred case without

looking at its merits. The signed contract may contain a clause that prevents a contractor from filing a claim against the owner or subcontractor against the main contractor. Other referrals may be rejected due to the absence of a formalized dispute at the time of the referral.

# 4.16.2 Financial Reasons

Few financial reasons may cause the process to be discontinued (around 0.5%). Being unable to pay the adjudicators' fees will push the claimant (and the adjudicators) to abandon the process especially when the party declares receivership (bankruptcy). In addition, any bank cheque issued by the bankrupt party will not be honored by banks after the party declares bankruptcy which makes continuing the process not possible.

# 4.16.3 Procedural and Technical Reasons

The procedural and technical reasons account for around a quarter of the cases where the adjudication process was discarded after its start. Referring the dispute to adjudication requires the fulfillment of several notice requirements. For example, the English Construction and Regeneration Act that was introduced by the UK Housing Grants in 1996 requires several notices before commencing the adjudication process. The claimant needs to submit a notice of its intention to refer the case of adjudication. The notice of Adjudication contains brief details about the project, the settings of the dispute, and the nature of the dispute and the nature of the sought remedy. This notice is followed by the appointment of the adjudicator or adjudication board. The claimant should send then a detailed notice of referral to the appointed adjudication body. This notice should be detailed and accompanied by documentation in support of the claim together with expert reports (if any) and witness statements. The discrepancy and inconsistency between the information stated in the notices will drive the adjudication

body to abandon the process. The adjudication body may also abandon the process if they feel that the dispute nature differs from their area of expertise which prevents them from issuing a reasonable decision. The parties, in this case, will have to appoint another adjudicator or request another adjudicator appointment from ANBs. Other reasons for the adjudication body to abandon the process include having a referred dispute that has been referred before to adjudication with an issued decision, referring the dispute without a proof, which is generally referred to as "prejudice material", exceeding the stipulated notice time requirements, and mentioning a wrong respondent name in the referral or/and adjudication notices. The process may also be abandoned if the adjudication body exceeds the stipulated period to issue a decision unless the claimant and the respondent agree to extend it.

#### 4.16.4 Personal Reasons

In around 29% of the cases, the parties and adjudication body abandoned the process for personal reasons. As the parties aim to reach a settlement before the adjudicator issues a decision, the parties may ask for the help of a mediator to facilitate the settlement negotiations. Both parties may also decide to abandon the process if they both feel that the adjudicator is not doing his work properly to issue a decision or is in breach of natural justice. The adjudicator may also decide to resign due to being pressured by a party to issue a decision to their favor.

#### 4.17 Winners of Adjudicator's Decision

Usually, the claimant raises the matter to the adjudicator or adjudication board if they disagree with the decision taken by the initial decision maker. The claimant argues that he's entitled to more than what was decided initially. The respondent will also be
dissatisfied with any decision against him that was taken by the initial decision maker. The claimants, who were in nearly 80% of the cases subcontractors filing cases against the main contractors, or general contractors filing cases against the owners, won almost two thirds (63.75%) of all the referred cases from 1999 to February 2015 (Figure 26). While the respondents won around one-fifth of all the cases (20.08%), the adjudicators' decisions included split decisions in 16.17% of all the cases. However, the recent statistics show that the respondent parties succeeded in winning more cases along with a noticeable increase in the number of adjudications that ended with split decisions between the disputants.



Figure 26 Percentage of Won Decisions by Each Party

# CHAPTER V:

# INITIAL AND FINAL DECISION MAKERS

## **5.1 Preamble**

As the same profiles of professionals can play both roles as initial decision makers (owner's personnel) and final decision makers (adjudicators and arbitrators), it is essential to identify the qualities that allow a person to act as an initial decision maker and extend these qualities with what distinguishes the adjudicator from the initial decision maker. As the decision of the adjudicator is binding and can become final, there should be guidelines that control the training and appointment of the adjudicators. These guidelines should be followed by adjudication nominating bodies (ANBs), appointing parties (disputants), and adjudicators themselves upon appointment.

#### **5.2** Qualities Needed Along the Dispute Timeline

The three standard contracts, FIDIC, JCT, and NEC assume that an engineer, architect, construction manager, or project manager can take the role of issuing decisions regarding incidents and correspondences between the owner team and other participants in the project. Although these contracts do not specify the required background of the person who takes such responsibility, the contracts spell clearly the responsibilities, rights, and authority given to this person. For this, the qualities that distinguish an engineer from another engineer, for example, as a suitable person to take this role should be set.

#### 5.2.1 Phase 1

The owner usually picks a professional with sufficient experience in construction projects and a good understanding of contractual and procedural requirements to act as an initial decision maker for the project. During bidding phase and contract signature, the initial decision maker has to help the owner administer this phase, reply to bidders' questions, and work with the contract administration team to form a solid document that clearly spells rights, responsibilities, and obligations of each party along with the technical, administrative, and procedural requirements. Taking part in forming the contract documents allows the initial decision maker to have a complete understanding of these documents. This requires the initial decision maker to be fluent in the language of the contract which should also be the language used in all the communications between the project participants. This comes from the fact that any misuse of a term in an official communication can be misleading to the other party and may cause a dispute to occur. In addition, the initial decision maker must be able to understand what clauses apply to each case and the allocation of risk and responsibility present in contractual clauses. The initial decision maker, and after starting the works, should abide by the timeframes stipulated in the contract clauses especially for general communications, replies to requests of information, payments, and decision issuance. The contract usually specifies timeframes for all the milestones, procedures, correspondences, and communications between project participants. For this, time management is important as failing to abide by these requirements may cause delays, loss of right for a party, additional costs (compensations for example), or cause disputes.

Upon the occurrence of an event that may lead to a claim by a project participant, the initial decision maker uses his technical, commercial, and financial knowledge to assess

the incident, give directions, or be prepared for a possible claim. The aforementioned types of knowledge required for an initial decision maker have to be strengthened by experience, academic work and research, and attending workshops in order to fulfill the minimum knowledge required, in addition to other qualities, to qualify to assume the role of a final decision maker.

When the claimant submits a notice of claim, the initial decision maker assesses the claim as to fulfilling the claim notice requirements. The claimant has then to submit a fully detailed claim to the initial decision maker. The initial decision maker can deny any claim, release themselves from any responsibility, and put all the risk on the claiming party when the claimant fails to communicate pursuant to a specific contract clause or surpassing the stipulated timeframe. When the claimant fulfills the notice requirements, the initial decision maker should carefully manage the duration stated in the contract to collect and analyze evidence and then issue a decision. To be able to assess the case, the initial decision maker has to have basic knowledge in financial and commercial aspects of the project and in engineering as most of the problems that occur are of engineering background. Such technical knowledge is critical as being late in assessing the cases and taking decisions or taking wrong decisions may affect the whole timeline of the project and increase the costs. For example, having a basic understanding of delay analysis and assessment allows the decision maker to confidently decide on the responsibility and adequate compensation in such case. Even in the presence of a small team of lawyers, accountants, and engineering experts, which needs teamwork and executive and administrative abilities to manage, the initial decision maker should be able to fully understand what's being reported to him from his team. The decision of the initial decision maker, who's the engineer, architect, contract

administrator, or project manager, and in his "quasi-judicial" role, must be issued in good faith and be impartial (Stein & Hiss, 2003) although this may be against the employer's interests, which holds ramifications on his future work with the employer. In addition, and due to the interdependency of roles, decision-makers can be presented with claims that are actually against their own work (as design professionals for example) and question the adequacy of their own design. The design professionals, for example, may be pushed into an awkward situation where they are supposed to make the employer pay the contractor compensation for their own errors that resulted in ambiguities, discrepancies, and omissions in design documents and specifications. In such cases, the decision maker should not take advantage of having such authority to deny the claim but act impartially and in a good faith as the suffering party may seek compensation in other incidents and situations. For this, some initial decision-makers try their negotiation skills in order to sell both parties a deal that saves their interests and ensures project participants' satisfaction without the need to escalate the case to final decision makers where the authority to issue a decision is no longer with one of the parties. Upon issuing a decision, the initial decision maker has to explain to the disputants the facts used and on which clauses the decision was based. The timeline below summarizes the qualities deduced from each milestone of Phase 1 (Figure 27).



Figure 27 Summary of qualities deduced from each milestone of Phase 1

## 5.2.1 Phase 2

After a party issues a notice of dissatisfaction with the decision of the initial decision maker, the case can be referred to adjudication. The dispute timeline under the three standard forms of contracts, FIDIC, JCT, and NEC, is multistep that requires several notices before a case can be referred to the adjudicator. For this, the adjudicator should be able to assess the referral requirements and check the contractual clauses related to referring the case to adjudication in order to save his appointment or decision from being challenged by one of the parties during the adjudication process as this is one of the reasons that push the parties to challenge the appointment of the adjudicator or abandon the process.

It is understood that a role that is similar to that of a judge in the first-tier tribunal requires a professional with decent and respectable experience in the construction industry in general and dispute resolution in particular (20+ years). The disputants tend to choose an adjudicator whose experience and technical background allow him to understand the referred case particulars. The adjudicator is expected to be erudite in reading contractual clauses especially those related to dispute resolution mechanisms. In this role, the adjudicator checks the communications that took place between the disputants regarding the dispute in question in order to understand how the case escalated from a claim to a dispute and how the submitted information built up. Analyzing the way with which each party used the contractually provided time bars in addition to the decision of the initial decision maker necessitates the adjudicator to have decent analytical skills to be able to decide.

After ensuring that the contract gives the adjudicator the authority to act and that the disputants have referred the case after satisfying the contractual notice requirements, the

adjudicator has to understand the difference of acting as a sole adjudicator compared to be a member of adjudication board. A sole member can issue a decision solely after understanding and analyzing the case. However, a member of the adjudication board has to explain and share thoughts and experts' reports and opinions with board members in order to collectively decide the matter. The data provided by the Adjudication Reporting Centre of the Glasgow Caledonian University and the Adjudication Society for the 28000 cases referred to adjudication between 1998 and 2018 shows that most of the adjudicators (except lawyers) are present on other construction projects in different roles such as engineers, quantity surveyors, architects, construction managers, project managers, and contract administrators. Lawyers, on the other hand, are specialized in contractual and legal issues for their continuous work in this field. For this, the deep technical know-how (compared to the basic knowledge of an initial decision maker) is satisfied due to the appointment of an adjudicator with professional knowledge and experience relevant to the type of dispute, in addition to the team of professionals and experts that can be recruited by the adjudicator. In addition, having different professional backgrounds in the panel helps in having a thorough understanding and explanation of an expert's opinion regarding the matter. However, formal training in law and contract administration is essential as the adjudicator may be requested to act as a sole adjudicator for some cases. The sole adjudicator or the adjudication board can also be appointed during contract negotiation and signature phase. This necessitates the presence of a panel of professionals of different backgrounds or an experienced adjudicator who has more than one specialty (knowledge in construction law and engineering for example).

The adjudicator should be able to identify the background of the expert needed to give an opinion regarding the matter and the added value of that opinion in helping him issuing a decision. Team management and decent communication skills are important characteristics of an adjudicator not only to manage the team of experts but also to lead a dispute adjudication board. The adjudicator chooses the experts, assigns tasks and roles, and decides on due dates for experts' reports. He then has to communicate with these experts and other board members to explain what was concluded. In his new role as an adjudicator, the professional is not required to negotiate a deal with both parties or try to keep them pleased or satisfied. He is required to check how the matter was initially decided by the initial decision maker as this may present how the issue started and escalated and show what the reasons and merits of that decisions were. The adjudicator may be selected to decide on a case that's worth hundreds of millions which needs a confident, rightful, and impartial decision that holds no mercy as it may be a life-changing decision for any of the parties or lead to bankruptcy. This confidence in deciding and defending the decision when explaining the merits of the decision to the parties is what distinguishes him as a leading and successful adjudicator. The decision should be rational and backed with clarifications and documentation that persuades the parties that this decision is a legitimate decision that will also result from formalized dispute resolution techniques like arbitration and litigation. As such, the parties may be convinced with the decision and decide not to escalate the matter as they feel that the adjudicator gave the most rightful and impartial decision that would be the same in arbitration or litigation if they decide to further escalate the matter. The adjudicator should also be able to communicate his point of view to the board members

and explain how his experience, analytical skills, and understanding of experts' reports helped him reach his conclusions.

Time management is a key quality of a successful adjudicator. As contracts require project participants to submit notices, referrals, and other documents within stipulated timeframes, the contracts also specify durations for the adjudicators to act and issue a decision. For this, the nominated adjudicator should know how to take advantage of all available procedures and choose the most adequate one to the dispute as this has an effect on the time available for the adjudicator to issue a decision since some procedures take time and need preparation. The adjudicator may find that a legal debate between the claimant's legal team and that of the defendant to have a better understanding of what each of the disputants is presenting. For this, the adjudicator should be prepared to comprehend what the legal team of each party presents in such debates to be able to decide after consulting his own team of experts and professionals if needed. The ability to thoroughly read, assess, and understand documents and drawings is essential as the provided data shows that adjudicators relied on documents solely in around two-thirds of the referred cases to adjudication between 1998 and 2017. The adjudicator, and in addition to being able to understand and read contract documents as an initial decision maker, should be able to link and detect what applies from the main contract to subcontracts as nearly half of the cases are disputes between subcontractors and main contractors.

These findings came in line with the description of an adjudicator by Ndekurgri et al (2014) as a professional who's aware of the adjudication process and able to communicate his point of view concerning the matter to the other adjudication board members clearly, and the deductions made by Harmon (2003) based on a survey that

identified several attributes that should be present in an adjudicator: credibility, technical know-how in construction industry, fairness, impartiality, and knowledge in claim procedures.

The claimant, after being dissatisfied with the decision of an adjudicator can further escalate the case to arbitration. At this point, a professional, who's usually a retired judge or a respected experienced engineer can be selected to act as an arbitrator. In addition to the decent technical know-how, the chosen arbitrator should have deep knowledge of the law and legal side of disputes as the decision falls under the national legal laws and system.

Similarly, the arbitrator, a final decision maker who has an in-depth technical knowledge especially in law, has to assess the referral, study the previous decisions by the initial decision maker and adjudicator, and analyze the submitted documents to issue a final and binding decision.

The qualities deduced from each milestone of Phase 2 can be summarized in the timeline shown in Figure 28.



Figure 28 Summary of qualities deduced from each milestone of Phase 2

## **5.3 Appointment and Training of Adjudicators**

In addition to the importance of regulating the process of adjudication initiation and commencement by thoroughly describing the procedure in the clauses related to dispute resolution in the three studied standard contracts, FIDIC, NEC, and JCT, the data published by the Adjudication Society and Glasgow Caledonian University Adjudication Centre shows that the appointment phase is of equal importance. This comes from the fact that the appointment can be determinant to the success of the technique and satisfaction of the disputants. Several requirements, recommendations, and regulations can be imposed on ANBs, disputants, and the adjudicators themselves to enhance the use of this technique.

## 5.3.1 Parties' role

As the parties are contractually required to appoint adjudicators after the contract signature, this can be done after the evolvement of a claim into a dispute. Each party has the luxury to choose one of the adjudicators who jointly choose a third member to act as a chair for the adjudication board if they don't agree on a sole adjudicator. The parties should satisfy several criteria in their search for an adjudicator that include previous experience and work, background, hourly fee, and relevant professional and technical know-how and skills. As adjudication depends on the qualifications of the nominated adjudicator(s), both parties should take the nomination process seriously and ensure that they are confident of their choices. As the parties agree to the nominated adjudicators, naturally, they should professionally respect their decisions which reduces escalation of disputes to arbitration (Cox, 2000). The parties must present all the required documents and every type of evidence that supports their position to the adjudicator and reply to his requests and communications within the stipulated timeframes to facilitate his work.

As parties consider the money given to the team of lawyers, attorneys, professionals, and experts as non-recoverable costs of disputes that lower their profits, the parties should also remember that escalating the case to litigation or arbitration require larger sums as bigger teams are required. The parties' referral should also be made within the timeframes stipulated in the contract and pursuant to the relevant dispute resolution clauses as failing to do so results in losing the right to refer the case to adjudication.

## 5.3.2 ANBs' role

The Adjudication nominating bodies should have their own recruitment tool for adjudicators that focuses on the previous experience in solving disputes in addition to the professional experience and technical know-how in the construction industry. The ANBs should be able to nominate suitable adjudicators for each referred case. The ANBs can have their own training system that allows the novice adjudicators to test their understanding of the merits and presented documents of various case studies and issue decisions that can be discussed with professional and experienced adjudicators. ANBs should also have statistical data of disputants' and disputants' teams' satisfaction with the adjudicator's professionalism and procedural work (excluding their opinion on the decision) through well-structured surveys. These surveys will allow ANBs to detect the weaknesses of the nominated adjudicators and the required training to treat such deficiency. Such practices may reduce adjudicator resignation or appointment challenge by parties which happened in around 30% of the referred cases. As the distribution of adjudicators through the cases showed that engineers, lawyers, and surveyors are appointed in almost equal instances, it is recommended in complex cases to have a panel of three adjudicators with one adjudicator of each profession.

## 5.3.3 Adjudicators' role

The nominated adjudicator should, at first, decide if the case falls within his scope of expertise and resign if not. The adjudicator should ask for a reasonable fee that is proportional to the case complexity and worth. The adjudicator has to act fairly and impartially as his decision is significant to the parties since adjudication decisions are conclusive and as such, the same dispute cannot be brought to adjudication again but only to arbitration or litigation. In addition, the adjudicator should follow the new trends and techniques used in the construction industry, attend workshops related to adjudication, and complete training in the matters that are identified in adjudication reviews. This allows him to enhance his capabilities, increase the disputants' faith in this alternative dispute resolution technique, and build a good reputation.

# CHAPTER VI: CONCLUSIONS

#### 6.1 Summary of Work

The literature review section summarized several studies related to claims and inevitability of disputes. It first elaborated on what causes claims and described the contractual and adversarial requirements for a claimant to receive compensation for his claim. The section also presented several alternative dispute resolution techniques and their advantages. Dispute resolution timeline under was then explained under the three contracts in which adjudication is used: FIDIC, NEC, and JCT. The evolvement of a claim to a dispute and the stipulated timeframes of each step were spelled. The fourth section presented the data collected by The Adjudication Reporting Centre of the Glasgow Caledonian University and the Adjudication Society on 28000 cases referred to adjudication the United Kingdom between 1998 and 2018. The data lists statistical data on the adjudication nominating bodies and their backgrounds, nominated adjudicators and their backgrounds, appointment methods, initiation period, the primary subject of the disputes, disputants, adopted procedure, the timescale for decisions, winners, challenged appointments and decisions, values of disputes, and reasons behind adjudication process not proceeding.

The contractual requirements, guidelines, and timelines along with these statistical data helped in building a better understanding on how the claim evolves into a dispute and how project participants react on each milestone before they commence adjudication as a last resort before arbitration or litigation. This also allowed the deduction of the

qualities of the person who assumes the role of the initial decision maker and extending the list with the additional requirements and qualities that distinguish the adjudicator from an initial decision maker. The section ends with several recommendations to disputants, ANBs, and Adjudicators to enhance the use of this technique in the industry.

## **6.2** Conclusions

Disputes remained inevitable even with the introduction of new editions of standard documents and creation of dispute avoidance mechanisms. These disputes originate from claims caused by owner and owner's personnel and claims caused by the contractor and the entities that fall under his umbrella. Design errors, ambiguities, and incomplete design information are the main sources of claims caused by the owner in addition to the failure to comply with contractual clauses especially those that stipulate timeframes for replies and decisions. Clients, on the other hand, may claim against the contractors for a product that is different from what was mentioned in the design documents or defective work. In addition, the clients may claim against the contractor for late completion and safety breaches.

The disagreement between the parties extends from acknowledging the occurrence of the event triggering submitting a notice of claim to choosing when and how to assess its impacts and quantify the reasonable compensation. The notice of claim allows proper dispute management to take place. After satisfying all the contractual notice requirements, the initial decision maker issues a decision on the matter to end the dispute. The industry called for alternative dispute techniques when a party is dissatisfied with the decision of the initial decision maker such as mediation, partnering, and adjudication. Disputants choose the dispute resolution technique based on several

criteria. Parties demand to keep the dispute hidden to prevent their reputation from being tarnished. For this, contractors seek techniques that preserve confidentiality especially in the case of performing below quality standards. The overall duration taken to solve the dispute is also of high importance as disputes may cause project delay which is directly related to cost as well. Disputants also seek techniques that give them a degree of control over the outcome. However, they know that having a neutral third party, such as the adjudicator, to impose a rational and binding decision may be the only resort to end the dispute.

Adjudication was introduced to the UK construction industry in the Housing Grants Construction and Regeneration Act in 1996. Several standard forms of contracts used in the UK industry such as NEC, JCT, and FIDIC include clauses that spell and organize the use of the technique. The timeline of the adjudication technique under these standard forms of contracts was described thoroughly. These standard forms of contracts specify timeframes and notice requirements that should be met in order to save the parties' right to refer the case and ensure the given authority to the adjudicator to issue a binding decision.

## 6.2.1 Adjudication in Standard forms of Contracts

In FIDIC, referring the case to Adjudication is a four-step process that requires the claimant to send a notice of claim and wait for the engineer's determination. The claimant has then to send a notice of dissatisfaction with the engineer's determination to be able at last to refer the case to DAAB. On the other hand, referring the case to adjudication in NEC contract is a five-step process in both Options, W1 and W2. The claimant has to send a notification of the compensation event followed by an assessment or quotation. After receiving the reply of the project manager and being dissatisfied

with it, and under Option W1, the claimant sends a notice of dispute to the owner and project manager followed by referring the case accompanied with supporting documents to the adjudicator. In Option W2, the claimant has to send a notification of adjudication, wait for the reply and approval of the adjudicator, and refer the dispute to the adjudicator accompanied with supporting documents. Similarly, in the JCT standard contract, the claimant has to follow a five-step procedure to refer the case to adjudication. The claimant has first to send a notice of claim to the contract administrator or architect (the initial decision maker) followed by case particulars in the adjustment of completion date claims and initial assessment in the loss and expense claims. The claimant, and after being dissatisfied with the decision of the initial decision maker regarding the extension or ascertained amount, issues a notice of adjudication followed with a request to the adjudicator to act. After the adjudicator's acceptance to act, the claimant then should send a referral notice accompanied with case particulars. All the referrals, notices, and requests have to be sent within the timeframes stipulated in the used contract. The adjudicator's decision, under the three contracts, is considered binding and enforceable by law. It is noticeable that the duration given to the adjudicator to issue the decision varies between the three contracts. The adjudicator issues the decision within 84 days of the referral of the case to adjudication under FIDIC contracts while he's given 28 days only to do the same job under NEC and JCT contracts.

## 6.2.2 Adjudication in the UK Construction Industry

The Adjudication Reporting Centre of the Glasgow Caledonian University focused, in annual publications, on adjudication after its launch at 1999 and till 2012, in order to organize its use and allow the researchers to propose solutions for the flaws and

formalize some regulations to increase the disputants' trust in this technique. After 2012, the Adjudication Society continued publishing reports on the cases referred to the Adjudication Nominating Bodies (ANBs). These reports included detailed stats on several aspects of the cases such as initiation timing, winners of adjudication decisions, and reasons behind adjudication not proceeding. The data that consists of around 28000 cases shows that the adjudicators have various professional backgrounds that can be summarized into three main categories: Engineering, Surveying, and Legal. However, it is noticeable that the engagement of lawyers as adjudicators is increasing. These various backgrounds come in line with the numerous reasons for disputes. In almost 81% of the cases referred to adjudication, the referral was made after practical completion. The claimant may collect several disputes and refer them in a single file to the adjudication body after fulfilling all the contractual notice obligations. Although economic, personal, and technical reasons may push the disputants to abandon the process, most of the cases were concluded within a 28-day period. In addition, it was recognized that the main procedure adjudicators depend on is using the documents to understand the merits of the case especially with the limited timing given for adjudicators in NEC and JCT contracts.

#### 6.2.3 Deduced Qualities

The author tried to conclude from the published data and the dispute and adjudication timelines under these three standard forms of contracts. The author found that an initial decision maker should be fluent with the language of the contract which is also used in communication between the parties. He's also required to have the ability to grasp every single detail of the contract documents and be able to detect the risk allocation and contractual rights, roles and requirements of each party. The initial decision maker

should also have the basic technical and managerial know-how to be able to manage a team of professionals and experts, read and analyze reports, and issue fair and impartial decisions within the contractual timeframes. The initial decision maker under the quasijudicial role should know the procedures and contractual requirements of commencing adjudication in addition to the ability to explain his point of view to other board members and the confidence when making decisions. In addition to the mentioned qualities, the final decision maker should be able to assess the referral and the authority given to the adjudicator under the given contract. The adjudicator should also be able to choose the most adequate procedure and the type of experts needed in order to come up with a full understanding of the case and issue a rational decision. The adjudicator should have analytical, team management, and time management skills to succeed in his quasi-judicial role.

#### **6.3 Limitations of Research**

The research was based on data collected by adjudication centers and the technique mechanisms deduced from three standard forms of contracts, FIDIC, NEC, and JCT in which adjudication is used.

Although many projects use a form of these contracts, clients still delete some clauses that allow the contractor to seek the help of an adjudicator as a neutral third party after being dissatisfied with the decision of the initial decision maker. This, accompanied with the lack of adjudication centers in other countries, prevented the author from comparing the state of the technique and finding the complications adjudicators face in other construction industries. In addition, adjudication is not common in the Middle East region which is the reason behind having all the cases referred directly to arbitration or litigation following the dissatisfaction with the initial decision maker's decision.

The data used is publicly available on the websites of the Adjudication Society and the Adjudication Center of the Glasgow Caledonian University. However, the data had several years missing for some headings in addition to the broad language and absence of any sort of analysis, reasoning, or explanation.

## **6.4 Recommendations**

The analysis, conclusions, and limitations of research that resulted from exploring the claim and dispute timeline under the three standard forms of contracts, NEC, JCT, and FIDIC pave the way for a list of recommendations to be generated. These recommendations should be considered by appointing bodies, contract administrators, disputants, and adjudicators to get the benefit themselves and the market as a whole.

• Arranging workshops for project participants, clients, and contract administrators to explain and clarify for them how the technique truly works in order to encourage them to keep the contractual clauses related to adjudication when using standard forms of contracts instead of leaving the absolute power for the initial decision maker

• Introducing a feedback system allows the disputants to rate the adjudicators and point out the weaknesses of each adjudicator and the adequate training for each

• Project participants should depend on the adjudication nominating bodies to assign adjudicators with an adequate technical background, experience, and compatible language.

• Enhancing the use of ad-hoc dispute adjudication board that is present not only to issue decisions on disputes but also to help the project participants avoid escalation of disagreements to disputes while being informed of all details

## **6.5 Future Work**

The future work starts with identifying the reasons behind abandoning adjudication and suggesting ways that help in persuading contract drafters to keep adjudication as an alternative dispute resolution technique. This would have the effect of reducing the time and costs needed to solve disputes through formalized dispute resolution techniques such as arbitration and litigation.

Identifying what metrics that ANBs should focus on while evaluating the work of an adjudicator following issuing a decision is essential along with introducing a unified user-friendly system for the nomination of adjudicators that allows ANBs, Adjudicators, and disputants share information effortlessly to create world-wide statistical data.

# CHAPTER VII:

## REFERENCES

- Abdul-Malak, M.-A., & Khalife, S. (2017). Classification and analysis of notice requirements for construction contract administration. Journal of Legal Affairs and Dispute Resolution in Engineering and Construction, 9(3), 4517016. doi:10.1061/(ASCE)LA.1943-4170.0000241
- Abdul-Malak, M.-A., & Khalife, S. (2017). Models for the Administration of Structured Construction Contract Notices. Journal of Legal Affairs and Dispute Resolution in Engineering and Construction, 9(3). doi:10.1061/(ASCE)la.1943-4170.0000228
- Abdul-Malak, M.-A., & Abdulhai, T. A. (2017). Conceptualization of the Contractor's project management group dynamics in claims initiation and documentation evolution. *Journal of Legal Affairs and Dispute Resolution in Engineering and Construction*, 9(3), 4517014. doi:10.1061/(ASCE)LA.1943-4170.0000229
- Agdas, D., & Ellis, R. D. (2013). Analysis of Construction Dispute Review Boards. Journal of Legal Affairs and Dispute Resolution in Engineering and Construction, 5(3), 122-127. doi:10.1061/(ASCE)la.1943-4170.0000118
- Ahuja, H. N. (1994). Project management: techniques in planning and controlling construction projects. The United States.
- Aibinu, A. A. (2009). Avoiding and Mitigating Delay and Disruption Claims Conflict: Role of Precontract Negotiation. Journal of Legal Affairs and Dispute Resolution in Engineering and Construction, 1(1). doi:10.1061/共 ASCE 兲 1943-4162 共 2009 兲 1:1 共 47 兲
- Al Qady, M., Kandil, A., Stuckey, J. M., & Mahfouz, T. (2013). Legal review of conditions precedent to dispute resolution in construction contracts. Journal of Legal Affairs and Dispute Resolution in Engineering and Construction, 5(1), 27-34. doi:10.1061/(ASCE)LA.1943-4170.0000102
- Awwad, R., Barakat, B., & Menassa, C. (2016). Understanding dispute resolution in the Middle East region from perspectives of different stakeholders. *Journal of Management in Engineering*, 32(6), 5016019. doi:10.1061/(ASCE)ME.1943-5479.0000465
- Barakat, M., Abdul-Malak, M., & Khoury, H. (2018). Examination of Judgements Rendered by Engineering Professionals under Various Construction Claims/Disputes Resolution Roles. 165-174. 10.1061/9780784481271.017.
- Best, R., & De Valence, G. (2002). Design and construction: building in value. Oxford; Boston;: Butterworth-Heinemann.
- Bramble, B. B., & Callahan, M. T. (2000). Construction delay claims. Gaithersburg, MD: Aspen Law & Business.

- Cheung, S. O., & Suen, H. C. H. (2002). A multi-attribute utility model for dispute resolution strategy selection. Construction Management and Economics, 20(7), 557-568. doi:10.1080/01446190210157568
- Cheung, S. O. (1997). Risk allocation: An essential tool for construction project management. Journal of Construction Procurement, 3(1), 11.
- Cheung, S. O. (1999). Critical factors affecting the use of alternative dispute resolution processes in construction. International Journal of Project Management, 17(3), 189-194.
- Cheung, S. O., & Pang, K. H. Y. (2013). Anatomy of Construction Disputes. Journal of Construction Engineering and Management, 139(1), 15-23. doi:10.1061/(ASCE)co.1943-7862.0000532
- Cheung, S. O., & Yiu, T. W. (2006). Are Construction Disputes Inevitable? IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management, 53(3), 456-470. doi:10.1109/tem.2006.877445
- Cox, D. (2000). "Report to members of the AASHTO Highway Subcommittee on construction." HIPA-30, U.S. DOT, Federal Highway Administration, Washington, D.C.
- Dancaster, C. (2008). Construction adjudication in the United Kingdom: Past, present, and future. Journal of Professional Issues in Engineering Education and Practice, 134(2), 204-208. doi:10.1061/(ASCE)1052-3928(2008)134:2(204)
- Doloi, H. (2009). Analysis of pre-qualification criteria in contractor selection and their impacts on project success. Construction Management and Economics, 27(12), 1245-1263. doi:10.1080/01446190903394541
- El-adaway, I. H., & Fawzy, S. A. (2012). Contract Administration Guidelines for Managing Conflicts, Claims, and Disputes under World Bank–Funded Projects. Journal of Legal Affairs and Dispute Resolution in Engineering and Construction, 4(4), 101-110. doi:10.1061/(ASCE)LA.1943-4170.0000091
- Enshassi, A., Choudhry, R. M., & El-Ghandour, S. (2009). Contractors' Perception towards Causes of Claims in Construction Projects. International Journal of Construction Management, 9(1), 79-92. doi:10.1080/15623599.2009.10773123
- FIDIC (International Federation for Consulting Engineers) (2017), The FIDIC Conditions of Contract for Construction.
- Galloway, P. D. (2013). Engineering a Successful Negotiation. Journal of Legal Affairs and Dispute Resolution in Engineering and Construction, 5(1), 6-12. doi:10.1061/(ASCE)LA.1943-4170.0000097
- Gebken, R. J., & Gibson, G. E. (2006). Quantification of costs for dispute resolution procedures in the construction industry. Journal of Professional Issues in Engineering Education and Practice, 132(3), 264-271. doi:10.1061/(ASCE)1052-3928(2006)132:3(264)
- Gerber, P., & Ong, B. (2010). Dispute Boards: Is there a role for lawyers? Construction Law International, 5(4).

- Glasgow Caledonian University Adjudication Reporting Center (1998-2011), Adjudication Annual Reports, Glasgow, United Kingdom.
- Gould, N. (2006, ). The new engineering contract, 3rd edition early warning and compensation events. Mondaq Business Briefing
- Gregory-Stevens, J., Frame, I., & Henjewele, C. (2016). Mediation in construction disputes in England. International Journal of Law in the Built Environment, 8(2), 123-136. doi:10.1108/IJLBE-02-2015-0004
- Harmon, K. M. J. (2003). Dispute review boards and construction conflicts: Attitudes and opinions of construction industry members
- Harmon, K. M. J. (2011). To Be or Not to Be—That Is the Question: Is a DRB Right for Your Project? Journal of Legal Affairs and Dispute Resolution in Engineering and Construction, 3(1), 6. doi:10.1061/共 ASCE 兲 LA.1943-4170.0000051
- Harris, M. (2018). The importance and value of notice provisions in construction contract. Long International Inc.Retrieved December 16, 2018, from http://www.longintl.com/articles/Long\_Intl\_The\_Importance\_and\_Value\_of\_Notice\_Provisions \_in\_Construction\_Contracts.pdf
- Haugen, T., & Singh, A. (2015). Dispute Resolution Strategy Selection. Journal of Legal Affairs and Dispute Resolution in Engineering and Construction, 7(3).
- Hellard, R. B. (1988). Managing Construction Conflict. London: Longman Higher Education.
- Hibberd, P. & Newman, P. (1999), ADR and Adjudication in Construction Disputes, Wiley-Blackwell, Oxford.
- Institution of Civil Engineers (ICE). (1991). "The new engineering contract: Need for and features of the NEC." Thomas Telford, London.
- Kennedy, P. (2008). Evolution of statutory adjudication as a form of dispute resolution in the U.K. construction industry. Journal of Professional Issues in Engineering Education and Practice, 134(2), 214-219. doi:10.1061/(ASCE)1052-3928(2008)134:2(214)
- Kumaraswamy, M. M., & Yogeswaran, K. (2003). Substantiation and assessment of claims for extensions of time. International Journal of Project Management, 21(1), 27-38.
- Levin, P. (1998). Construction contract claims, changes & dispute resolution (2nd; Second Ed.). Reston VA: ASCE Press.
- Lim, T. (2012). Essence of time in construction contracts. Construction Economics and Building, 9(2), 1-6. doi:10.5130/AJCEB.v9i2.3016
- Love, P., Davis, P., Ellis, J., & On Cheung, S. (2010). Dispute causation: Identification of pathogenic influences in construction. Engineering, Construction and Architectural Management, 17(4), 404-423. doi:10.1108/09699981011056592

- Marshall, H. (2012). Adjudication enforcement: partial final determinations and insolvency. International Journal of Law in the Built Environment, 4(1), 60-74. doi:10.1108/17561451211211741
- Marzouk, M., & Moamen, M. (2009). A framework for estimating negotiation amounts in construction projects. Construction Innovation, 9(2), 133-148. doi:10.1108/14714170910950795
- Mewing, A. (2014). "The old rule, the true rule and contract administration notices in construction." Building and Construction Law Journal, 30(2), 88–106.
- Miletsky, R. J. (2001). Failure to comply with contract notice provisions places your claims at risk. Contractor's Business Management Report, (8), 1.
- Murphy, S. E., Spillane, J. P., Hendron, C., & Bruen, J. (2014). NEC contracting: Evaluation of the inclusion of dispute review boards in lieu of adjudication in the construction industry in the United Kingdom. Journal of Legal Affairs and Dispute Resolution in Engineering and Construction, 6(4), 4514002. doi:10.1061/(ASCE)LA.1943-4170.0000147
- Ndekugri, I., Chapman, P., Smith, N., & Hughes, W. (2014). Best practice in the training, appointment, and remuneration of members of dispute boards for large infrastructure projects. Journal of Management in Engineering, 30(2), 185-193. doi:10.1061/(ASCE)ME.1943-5479.0000195
- Ndekurgi, I., & Mcdonnell, B. (1999). Differing site conditions risks: a FIDIC/engineering and construction contract comparison. Engineering, Construction and Architectural Management.
- Ndekugri, I., & Rycroft, M. E. (2009). The JCT 05 standard building contract: Law and administration (2nd ed.). Burlington, Mass;Oxford;: Butterworth-Heinemann.
- Ndekugri, I., Smith, N., & Hughes, W. (2007). The engineer under FIDIC's conditions of contract for construction. Construction Management and Economics, 25(7), 791-799. doi:10.1080/01446190701411216
- New Engineering Contract (NEC) (2013), NEC 3: Engineering and construction contract, Thomas Telford, London.
- Senan, MH., Alzaghrini, N., & Srour, I. (2018). Mediation Tactics and Effectiveness in Dispute Resolution, Responsible Design and Delivery of the Constructed Project – In the proceedings of ISEC Euro-Med Sec2 Conference.
- Sertyesilisik, B. (2010). Investigation on particular contractual issues in construction. Journal of Legal Affairs and Dispute Resolution in Engineering and Construction, 2(4), 218-227. doi:10.1061/(ASCE)LA.1943-4170.0000032
- Spurin, C. H. (2003). "The settlement of manufacturing plant construction disputes." The Nation Wide Academy for Dispute Resolution, London.
- Stein, S. G. M., & Hiss, R. (2003). Here comes the judge-duties and responsibilities of design professionals when deciding disputes. Journal of Professional Issues in Engineering Education and Practice, 129(3), 177-183. doi:10.1061/(ASCE)1052-3928(2003)129:3(177)

- Stipanowich, T. J. (1998). Reconstructing construction law: Reality and reform in a transactional system. Wisconsin Law Review, 1998(2), 463.
- Taylor, J. (2008). JCT building contracts: What's new? Journal of Building Appraisal, 3(4), 259-266. doi:10.1057/jba.2008.7
- Tazelaar, F., & Snijders, C. (2010). Dispute resolution and litigation in the construction industry. Evidence on conflicts and conflict resolution in The Netherlands and Germany. Journal of Purchasing and Supply Management, 16(4), 221-229. doi:10.1016/j.pursup.2010.08.003
- The Adjudication Society (2012-2018), Adjudication Annual Reports, United Kingdom. Retrieved from https://www.adjudication.org/resources/research.
- Thompson, R. M., Vorster, M. C., & Groton, J. P. (2000). Innovations to manage disputes: DRB and NEC. Journal of Management in Engineering, 16(5), 51-59. doi:10.1061/(ASCE)0742-597X(2000)16:5(51)
- Totterdill, B. (2001). FIDIC user's guide : A practical guide to the 1999 red book. England;United Kingdom.
- Treacy, T. B. (1995). Use of alternative dispute resolution in the construction industry. Journal of Management in Engineering, 11(1), 58-63. doi:10.1061/(ASCE)0742-597X(1995)11:1(58)
- Twomey, R. F. (2006). Mediation and its Merits as an Alternative Method of Employer-Employee Dispute Resolution. Competition Forum, 4(2).
- Wall, R., Ankrah, N., & Charlson, J. (2016). An investigation into the different styles of the lawyer and construction specialist when mediating construction disputes. International Journal of Law in the Built Environment, 8(2), 137-160. doi:10.1108/IJLBE-01-2015-0002
- Walsh, K. P. (2017). Identifying and Mitigating the Risks Created by Problematic Clauses in Construction Contracts. Journal of Legal Affairs and Dispute Resolution in Engineering and Construction, 9(3). doi:10.1061/(ASCE)la.1943-4170.0000225
- Yih Chong, H., Balamuralithara, B., & Choy Chong, S. (2011). Construction contract administration in Malaysia using DFD: a conceptual model. Industrial Management & Data Systems, 111(9), 1449-1464. doi:10.1108/02635571111182782